## Exploration of Corticospinal Activity During Movement Preparation

by

Isaac N. Gomez

A dissertation accepted and approved in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Human Physiology

Dissertation Committee:

Ian Greenhouse, Chair

Andy Karduna, Core Member

Michelle Marneweck, Core Member

Paul Dassonville, Institutional Representative

University of Oregon

Fall 2023

© 2023 Isaac N. Gomez

## DISSERTATION ABSTRACT

### Isaac N. Gomez

#### Doctor of Philosophy in Human Physiology

Title: Exploration of Corticospinal Excitability During Movement Preparation

Action preparation is a vital component of healthy goal-directed movement. While several studies have found evidence of transient inhibition of the motor system prior to simple finger movements, the functional role and putative source of this inhibition is not well understood. We explored corticospinal activity during the preparatory state under a number of different manual task types and conditions to investigate the nature of movement preparation. We used single-pulse Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) in combination with electromyography (EMG) to measure summary analogues of the motor output pathway during three different studies. The first was a delayed-response task involving button-presses with the index finger while the contralateral hand held a tonic contraction. Here we showed a release of inhibition in the non-responding hand, as evidenced in shorter cortical silent periods. Experiment two involved a two-dimensional reach across a tablet surface to acquire targets. Here, motor evoked potentials (MEPs) measured during reach preparation did not change from baseline. Experiment three was a delayed-response task involving a choice between an out-andback reach across the tablet surface and a button press using the thumb and forefinger of the same hand. Here also MEPs during the preparatory period were unchanged from baseline. While these findings stand in contrast to previous findings, they may suggest that certain task-related parameters, such as feedback and task complexity may influence whether preparatory inhibition is observable. They also add to a small but growing body of work that challenges the proposed models of preparatory inhibition.

This dissertation includes previously published co-authored material.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to express sincere appreciation to Dr. Ian Greenhouse for his assistance in the preparation of this manuscript, as well as his endless support in my academic training. I will forever carry parts of him with me in my teaching, mentorship and scholarship. In addition, I would like to acknowledge the faculty and staff of the Human Physiology Department at the University of Oregon, to whom I owe tremendous gratitude for their support and shared wisdom. Thank you all.

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	11
Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation and Inhibition	11
Goal-directed Reaching	13
Cerebellar Influences	15
In Summary	16
Overview of the Following Chapters	17
References Cited	18
II. RESPONSE PREPARATION INVOLVES A RELEASE OF INTRACORTICAL INHIBITION IN TASK-IRRELEVANT MUSCLES Contributions Summary Introduction	21 21 21 22
Materials & Methods	24
Participants	24
Experimental Setup	25
Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation & Electromyography	25
Unimanual Delayed-Response Task	27
Experiment 1	28
Experiment 2	28
Data Analysis	29
Results	30
CSP <sub>TMS</sub> Duration	30
CSP <sub>MEP</sub> Duration	31
MEP Duration	33
MEP Amplitudes	34
MEP Area	35
Overall and Pre-TMS Tonic EMG	36
Button Press and EMG Burst Onset RTs	36
Discussion	37
Interpretation of Reduced Intracortical Inhibition	38
Motor-Evoked Potentials, Laterality Differences, and Ipsilateral Modulation.	39
Alternative Interpretations and Limitations	40
Conclusion	41
Disclosures	41
References Cited	42
Bridge	46
III. ASSESSING CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY DURING	47
GOAL-DIRECTED REACHING BEHAVIOR	47
Contributions	47

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	48	
Protocol	50	
Reaching Apparatus		
Machine Interfaces	50	
Photodiode Sensor	50	
Software	51	
Participant Screening and Informed Consent	51	
Subject Setup	51	
Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation		
Reaching Task Setup		
Task Design	53	
TMS Administration	53	
Representative Results	54	
Discussion	57	
Disclosures		
Acknowledgements		
References Cited	60	
Bridge	63	
IV. INVESTIGATION OF PREPARATORY INHIBITION DURING REACHING	64	
Introduction	64	
Methods	66	
Participants	66	
Electromyography and Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation	66	
Virtual Workspace	67	
Reaching Task	67	
Dependent Measures and Analysis	69	
Results	70	
Reaching Accuracy	70	
EMG Reaction Time	71	
FDI MEP Amplitude7	2	
Correlations	73	
Discussion	74	
Lack of Preparatory Inhibition during Delayed Reaching	75	
Corticospinal Excitability during Visuomotor Adaptation and Cerebellar		
Influences	75	
TMS Effects on Reach-related EMG Onsets	76	
Limitations	77	
Conclusions	77	
References Cited	79	
Bridge		
V. EFFECT OF MOVEMENT TYPE ON CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY	83	
Introduction	83	
Methods	84	
Participants	84	

Electromyography and Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation	
Virtual Workspace	
Button & Reach Choice Task	
Dependent Measures and Analysis	
Results	
Reaching Accuracy	
EMG Reaction Time	
FDI MEP Amplitudes	
Pre-TMS EMG Activity	
Discussion	
Lack of Preparatory Inhibition in Button-Pressing	
TMS Effects on EMG Onset Times	
Limitations	
Conclusion	
References Cited	
VI DISCUSSION	08
Preparatory Inhibition and its Putative Sources	
Reaching and Visuometer Adaptation	100
Specific Contributions of Our Experiment	100
CSP Results	100
MED Results	
Task Complexity and Corticospinal Excitability	101
FMG Reaction Time Results	102
Broader Impacts I imitations and Future Directions	102
Final Remarks	105 104
References Cited	105

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
2.1 Left index and right index response conditions relative to transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) coil placement in experiment 1
2.2 Cortical silent period (CSP) duration was measured at baseline and delay TMS epochs for all three response conditions
2.3 Motor-evoked potential (MEP) duration measured at baseline and delay TMS epochs in three different response conditions
2.4 MEP amplitudes were measured at baseline and delay TMS epochs for all three response conditions
2.5 Button press reaction times (RTs) and electromyogram (EMG) burst onset RTs37
3.1 Behavioral data collected from the tablet
3.2 Example MEP traces
3.3 Supplementary Figure
4.1 Representation of the virtual workspace during a left-target trial
4.2 Diagram of the timeline of TMS administration relative to the task
4.3 Target error measured as the absolute distance between the center of the target and the cursor position
4.4 EMG reaction times as measured by the onset of the anterior Deltoid muscle relative to the imperative cue
4.5 Mean MEP amplitudes elicited at baseline and delay epochs
4.6 Root mean square of the FDI muscle activity prior to TMS delivery was positively correlated with the elicited MEP74
5.1 Representation of the virtual workspace for button trials and reach trials
5.2 Diagram of the timeline of TMS administration relative to task
<ul><li>5.3 EMG reaction time measured as the duration between the imperative cue and the onset of muscle activity</li></ul>

5.4 EMG reaction times with regards to response type and TMS administration	90
5.5 Mean MEP amplitudes elicited at baseline and delay in the right and left FDI	91

# CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

Successful goal-directed behavior depends on a delicate harmony of several neural processes that work together to plan, prepare, execute and refine desired actions. The neural mechanisms involved in this procession of movement have garnered considerable interest within neurophysiology and motor psychology. In humans, electrophysiology has led to many important insights by allowing for non-invasive recording of neural activity, both at rest as well as during the completion of behavioral tasks. One important application of such methods has been the investigation into preparatory activity and its role in healthy goal-directed movement.

## **Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation & Inhibition**

Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS), which offers a non-invasive means of probing the motor system at precise time points, has been used to investigate the relationships between corticospinal (CS) activity and the manifestation of behavior. When applied over primary motor cortex (M1), TMS can elicit a measurable deflection in the electromyogram (EMG) of a targeted muscle. The amplitude of this voltage wave, known as the motor evoked potential (MEP), provides an index of the momentary excitability state of the CS pathway - a resultant analog of all excitatory and inhibitory influences<sup>1</sup>. In addition to providing a reliable within-subjects measurement of intrinsic CS excitability, TMS can be combined with other behavioral or kinematic metrics to draw conclusions about movement planning, preparation and execution along with associated physiological processes.

Several TMS studies have shown that action preparation during a delay period is characterized by transient inhibition of the motor-output pathway. Such studies require participants to press buttons in response to visual stimuli. Often a preparatory cue informs the participant of the forthcoming response and a subsequent imperative cue elicits the response. TMS can be delivered at specific time-points relative to these cues - typically either at the onset of the preparatory cue (baseline) or 100ms before the imperative cue (delay). Relative to baseline, delay period MEPs are reduced after an informative cue when measured in taskrelevant muscles - that is, in primary agonists or potential agonists<sup>2-5</sup>. This phenomenon, known as preparatory inhibition, was first thought to play an important role in *impulse control* by

preventing premature movement. However, a similar inhibitory effect was also found in taskirrelevant muscles<sup>3,5</sup>, which prompted a *competition-resolution model* - one in which inappropriate or undesired responses are inhibited prior to action.

A newer model, dubbed the *Spotlight Model of Inhibition*<sup>5</sup>, does well to unify both processes into a single model by imagining preparatory inhibition as a beam of light. The focus of the spotlight is on the primary agonist, where inhibition is strongest, and the light that spreads out radially indicates a gradually weakening radius of inhibition throughout the motor system. This model captures both impulse control (inhibition of selected muscle) and competition-resolution (inhibition of non-selected muscle), while helping to explain why muscles completely unrelated to the task also exhibit preparatory inhibition.

While the findings described above point to a reliable suppression in the motor system when humans are preparing actions, other studies have produced evidence that challenges our understanding of preparatory inhibition, as well as its role in goal-directed movement. In a study that investigated the effect of task context on corticospinal excitability, MEP suppression was found in the task-irrelevant muscle, but not in the primary agonist or the potential agonist<sup>6</sup>. In fact, the primary agonist exhibited an increase in excitability (facilitation) during the preparation of movement. The authors interpreted this contrasting result to be attributable to elements of the task design that were distinct from previous work - an important consideration for novel task paradigms.

The source of preparatory inhibition also remains a question of considerable interest. Whether observed preparatory inhibition results from intracortical or subcortical influences is unclear. Using a paired pulse TMS protocol to measure short-interval intracortical inhibition (SICI), Duque et al.<sup>4</sup> showed evidence of a release of intracortical inhibition during action preparation. This finding motivates the search for either a separate cortical source or subcortical source that explains the observation of preparatory inhibition. A candidate electrophysiological measure is the cortical silent period (CSP), which occurs in a tonically active muscle following TMS. When the M1 representation is stimulated, the electromyogram of the active muscle will show an MEP followed by a period of inactivity. While the early portion of the CSP is thought to reflect spinal influences, the latter portion likely reflects intracortical inhibition. With both the amplitude of the MEP and the duration of the CSP, one may be able to unravel the relative

contributions of cortical and subcortical influences on corticospinal excitability during preparation. For example, a reduction in CSP duration would indicate a release of intracortical inhibition - similar to the findings related to SICI – and would thus converge on a subcortical source of preparatory inhibition. This would revise our current hypotheses about the candidate mechanisms of preparatory inhibition and motivate further investigations into the role of inhibition in movement more broadly.

A separate methodological limitation exists within the TMS literature. Most, if not all TMS studies investigating movement preparation have employed simple, ballistic finger or wrist movements. While employing highly constrained movements has experimental advantages, it fails to capture the richness and complexity of natural human behavior. Moreover, a large body of research on action preparation in animal models has examined more complex actions, which has complicated our ability to draw inferences between human TMS work in this area and findings in animals. We propose that studies of goal-directed reaching in humans is an optimal - and novel - direction for TMS-related investigations into the mechanisms of action preparation as well as the relationships between CS excitability and behavior, more broadly.

#### **Goal-directed Reaching**

Goal-directed reaching is a universal skill that allows humans to interact with and manipulate the external environment. As one of the most studied behaviors in Motor Physiology, Psychology, and Neuroscience research, reaching has produced a rich and extensive literature that includes a variety of methodologies.

Many studies have investigated reaching with a behavioral approach, employing sensorimotor adaptation tasks to explore the nature of motor learning and control<sup>7-9</sup>. In general, healthy humans (and monkeys) are extremely adept at performing goal-directed movements with our limbs. Regardless of the complexity of the task, a novice performer will optimize her/his movement pattern, reduce movement variability and become an expert<sup>10</sup>. The mechanisms that govern this process of adapting to reduce variability are of great interest. Optimal feedback control is the established model to explain the reflexive, automatic responses made to correct for variability in one's movement. This framework encapsulates both short-latency (~25ms) corrections, controlled by spinal reflex arcs, as well as long-latency (50-200ms) corrections,

controlled by subcortical and cortical mechanisms<sup>11</sup>. A number of perturbation types have been employed, mainly force-field perturbations - which involve fast-acting proprioceptive systems and visual perturbations<sup>12</sup>. The use of prism goggles and virtual workspaces, for instance, introduces a lingering visual perturbation that the motor system must factor into the motor plan in order to successfully complete a task. A common method in this literature is to introduce a visuomotor rotation in the virtually-presented visual feedback. Several authors have found that, in response to the rotation, error-reduction occurs incrementally and exponentially, with pronounced aftereffects once the rotation is removed<sup>13-15</sup>. This gradual recalibration, known as sensorimotor adaptation, reflects a process of implicit motor learning<sup>9</sup>. However, the exact neural mechanisms involved are not entirely clear, and whether these mechanisms exert influence over the CS output pathway is unknown.

In a related body of work, direct neural recordings from non-human primates have produced insights into the neural activity at the level of a single neuron<sup>16,17</sup>. Employing a delayed response reaching task, such studies have found that preparatory neural activity is predictive of direction, extent, and speed of movement<sup>18</sup>. That is to say that single cortical neurons are individually and selectively tuned to the basic parameters of a given movement before movement onset occurs. Importantly, this preparatory activity is not simply a subthreshold version of movement-related activity, as one might expect. In fact, the tuning of individual neurons during preparation is dissimilar to movement-related tuning<sup>19,20</sup>. Clearly, preparatory activity is functionally relevant to goal-directed movement, but its exact role is still in question. Some have argued that preparatory activity exists in a *null space* which permits neural activity sets the initial state in an ever-changing system<sup>20</sup>, and thus serves an important mechanistic role in goal-directed actions.

Importantly, the potential relationship between the preparatory activity of single-neurons and the corticospinal dynamics observed in TMS studies has not yet been explored. Furthermore, to our knowledge, single-pulse TMS has not yet been applied to reaching paradigms to explore action preparation in humans.

#### **Cerebellar Influences**

The role of the cerebellum in producing smooth, accurate movements has long been established. Connections to prefrontal and motor cortices, thalamus, brainstem and spinal cord point to a broad network of functions related to goal-directed actions. While the cerebellum receives several inputs from mossy and climbing fibers, its output via Purkinje cells is relatively straightforward, with simple spike activity governing cerebellar outflow. Single-unit studies have found that Purkinje cell activity is tuned for limb position and direction of forthcoming arm movements<sup>22</sup>. Importantly, cerebellar activity precedes movement-onset, especially when the movement is elicited by visual or auditory stimuli<sup>23</sup>.

Much of what is known about the functional role of the cerebellum is informed by clinical work in patients with cerebellar lesions and experiments that modulate cerebellar output. Cerebellar patients exhibit a suite of symptoms most frequently illustrated by ataxia - discoordination of actions - and dysmetria - inaccurate distancing of actions. When asked to reach for a target, for example, cerebellar patients with dysmetria most often overshoot (hypermetria) and sometimes undershoot (hypometria) an intended target<sup>24</sup>. Furthermore, individuals with cerebellar lesions exhibit a decrease in excitability of the contralateral motor cortex, indicating a permissive influence of cerebellar output on motor regions.

Electrophysiological studies have probed the cerebello-thalamo-cortical pathway in healthy participants using magnetic stimulation. Using a paired-pulse TMS protocol, with one coil over cerebellum and a second over M1, the connectivity between the two regions can be interrogated. When a conditioning stimulus is applied over the cerebellum 5-7ms prior to a test stimulus over M1, the induced muscle response is attenuated - often referred to as Cerebellar-Brain-Inhibition (CBI)<sup>25</sup>. This protocol is thought to measure the inhibitory projection from the cerebellar cortex to the dentate, which reduces M1 activity<sup>26</sup>. During adaptation tasks, CBI has been shown to decrease – ie. less inhibition. In fact, reductions in CBI have been shown to scale with the magnitude of learning in a locomotor adaptation task<sup>27</sup> and a visuomotor adaptation task<sup>28</sup>. Surprisingly, this effect is seen in both a relevant agonist as well as a task-irrelevant muscle<sup>29</sup>. How this body of work relates to investigations of action preparation using single-pulse TMS is not yet clear.

#### In Summary

The neural mechanisms involved in goal-directed behavior are of considerable relevance to our understanding of both the motor system and neurophysiology. While several studies have observed transient inhibition of the motor-output pathway during action preparation, many questions remain regarding the functional role of inhibition and its putative sources. While the Spotlight Model of Inhibition suggests that undesired movement channels are suppressed to increase the gain of the desired signal, recent evidence suggests a more nuanced process. TMSderived measures of intracortical inhibition suggest that while overall MEP amplitudes are suppressed, a coinciding release of intracortical inhibition may occur, evident in both a release of short – interval intracortical inhibition<sup>3</sup> and shorter durations of cortical silent periods<sup>30</sup>. These combined pieces of evidence may implicate subcortical sources of preparatory inhibition.

A likely source of subcortical inhibition is input from cerebellar- thalamocortical pathways. Evidence from dual-coil TMS that involve a conditioning stimulus over cerebellum and a test stimulus over M1 reliably show a decrease in MEP amplitudes<sup>31</sup>. This suggests cerebellar inputs to M1 have a modulatory influence over corticospinal output, and thus could be one of the sources of preparatory inhibition.

The neural mechanisms involved in goal-directed behavior are of considerable relevance to our understanding of both the motor system and neurophysiology. TMS offers a non-invasive means of exploring the relationships between CS activity and the unfolding of actions. While several studies have observed transient inhibition of the motor-output pathway during action preparation, its functional role is still unclear. Since previous TMS studies have constrained tasks to simple finger and wrist movements, goal-directed reaching is a promising behavior to further explore this relationship. To our knowledge, single-pulse TMS has not yet been applied to reaching paradigms to explore action preparation in humans. This paradigm may provide insight into the selectivity and extent of preparatory inhibition. Another dimension to be explored is how motor learning affects CS excitability during preparation. While it has been shown that during visuo-motor adaptation, cerebellar-mediated inhibition on M1 is reduced, how this dynamic relates to action preparation is unclear.

The following experiments contribute to our understanding of intracortical inhibition in action preparation and represent a novel direction for TMS investigations of preparatory inhibition. By implementing reaching behavior with single-pulse TMS methodology, we were able to probe CS excitability during the preparation of a complex behavior. We also provide a flexible framework for future investigations that wish to explore potential relationships between reaching and corticospinal excitability.

## **Overview of the Following Chapters**

Chapter II describes an investigation into preparatory mechanisms and the putative sources of preparatory inhibition. This study is a previously published paper with co-authors Kara Ormiston and Dr. Ian Greenhouse. Chapter III describes a novel approach for probing the motor output pathway during 2-dimensional reaching with transcranial magnetic stimulation. This is a previously published methods paper with co-authors Serena Orsinger, Dr. Hyosub Kim and Dr. Ian Greenhouse. Chapter IV describes unpublished work investigating the presence of preparatory inhibition during reaching behaviors, as well as the effect of adaptation on corticospinal excitability. Chapter V describes an unpublished follow-up study further exploring the preparatory state during reaching and button-press movements, as well as the potential influence of task-relevancy. Chapter VI is the final conclusionary chapter of the dissertation. This chapter summarizes previous chapters and offers interpretations of results and final takeaways.

## **References Cited**

1. Rothwell JC et al. Stimulation of the human motor cortex through the scalp. *Experimental Physiology* 76: 159-200, 1991.

2. Davranche K, Tandonnet C, Burle B, Meynier C, Vidal F, Hasbroucq T. The dual nature of time preparation: neural activation and suppression revealed by transcranial magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex. European Journal of Neuroscience 25: 3766–3774, 2007.

3. Duque J, Ivry RB. Role of corticospinal suppression during motor preparation. *Cereb Cortex* 19: 2013–2024, 2009.

4. Duque J, Lew D, Mazzocchio R, Olivier E, Ivry RB. Evidence for two concurrent inhibitory mechanisms during response preparation. *J Neurosci* 30: 3793–3802, 2010.

5. Greenhouse I, Sias A, Labruna L, Ivry RB. Nonspecific inhibition of the motor system during response preparation. *J Neurosci* 35: 10675–10684, 2015.

6. Quoilin C, Fievez F, Duque J. Preparatory inhibition: impact of choice in reaction time tasks. *Neuropsychologia* 129: 221-222, 2019.

7. Shadmehr R, Smith MA, Krakauer JW. Error correction, sensory prediction, and adaptation in motor control. *Annural Review of Neuroscience* 33: 89-108, 2010.

8. Huberdeau DM, Krakauer JW, Haith AM. Dual-process decomposition in human sensorimotor adaptation. *Current Opinion in Nuerobiology* 33: 71-77, 2015

9. Kim HE et al. Invariant errors reveal limitations in motor correction rather than constraints on error sensitivity. *Communications Biology* 1: 19, 2018.

10. Harris CM & Wolpert DM. Signal-dependent noise determines motor planning. Nature 394:780-784, 1998.

11. Kim HE, Avraham G, Ivry RB. The Psychology of Reaching: Action selection, movement implementation, and sensorimotor learning. *Annual Review of Psychology* 72: 21.1-21.35, 2020.

12. Nashed JY, Crevecoeur F, Scott SH. Rapid online selection between multiple motor plans. *Journal of Neuroscience* 34(5): 1769-1780, 2014.

13. Kagerer FA, Contreras-Vidal JL, Stemach GE. Adaptation to gradual as compared with sudden visuo-motor distortions. *Experimental Brain Research* 115: 557-561, 1997.

14. Wigmore, V, Tong C, Flanagan, J. R. Visuomotor rotations of varying size and direction compete for a single internal model in a motor working memory. *Journal of Experimental* 

Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 28(2): 447–457, 2000.

15. Krakauer JW, Haith AM. Dual-process decomposition in human sensorimotor adaptation. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 33: 71-77, 2015.

16. Georgopoulos AP, Kalaska JF, Caminiti R, Massey JT. On the relations between the direction of two-dimensional arm movements and cell discharge in primate motor cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience* 2(11): 1527-1537, 1982.

17. Georgopoulos AP, Schwartz AB, Kettner, RE. Neuronal population coding of movement direction. *Science* 4771: 1416-1419, 1986.

18. Churchland MM, Santhanam G, Shenoy K. Preparatory activity in premotor and motor cortex reflects the speed of the upcoming reach. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 96(6): 3130-3146, 2006.

19. Churchland MM & Shenoy KV. Temporal complexity and heterogeneity of single-neuron activity in premotor and motor cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 97(6): 4235-4257, 2007.

20. Churchland MM et al. Cortical preparatory activity: representation of movement or first cog in a dynamical machine? *Neuron* 68(3): 387-400, 2010.

21. Kaufman MT, Churchland MM, Ryu SI, Shenoy KV. Cortical activity in the null space: permitting preparation without movement. *Nature Neuroscience* 17: 440-448, 2014.

22. Roitman AV et al. Position, direction of movement, and speed tuning of cerebellar purkinje cells during circular manual tracking in monkey. *Journal of Neuroscience* 25(40): 9244-9257, 2005.

23. Thach, WT, A Role for the cerebellum in learning movement coordination, *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory* 70(1): 177-188, 1978.

24. Hallet M. & Massaquoi S, Physiologic studies of dysmetria in patients with cerebellar deficits, *Journal of* Neuroscience 20(3): 83-92, 1993.

25. Ugawa Y et al. Modulation of motor cortical excitability by electrical stimulation over the cerebellum in man. *Journal of* Physiology 441(1): 57-72, 1995.

26. Dum RP & Strick PL, An unfolded map of the cerebellar dentate nucleus and its projections to the cerebral cortex, *Journal of Neurophysiology* 89(1): 634-639, 2003.

27. Jayaram G, Galea JM, Bastian AJ, Celnik P. Human locomotor adaptive learning is proportional to depression of cerebellar excitability, *Cerebral Cortex* 21(8): 1901-1909, 2011.

28. Schlerf JE et al. Dynamic Modulation of Cerebellar excitability for abrupt, but not gradual, visuomotor adaptation. *Journal of Neuroscience* 32(34): 11610-11617, 2012.

29. Spampinato DA, Hannah JB, & Celnik PA. Cerebellar-M1 connectivity changes associated with motor learning are somatotopic specific. *Journal of Neuroscience* 37(9):2377-2386, 2017.

30. Gomez IN, Ormiston, K, Greenhouse I. Response preparation involves a release of intracortical inhibition in task-irrelevant muscles. *Journal of Neurophyiology* 125(2): 523-532, 2020

31. Werhahn KJ. Taylor J. Ridding M. Meyer BU. Rothwell JC. Effect of transcranial magnetic stimulation over the cerebellum on the excitability of human motor cortex, *Electroencophalography and Clinical Neurophysiology* 101(1): 58-66, 1996.

#### CHAPTER II

# RESPONSE PREPARATION INVOLVES A RELEASE OF INTRACORTICAL INHIBITION IN TASK-IRRELEVANT MUSCLES

## Contributions

This work was published in volume 125, issue two of the Journal of Neurophysiology in February of 2021. Isaac N. Gomez and Ian Greenhouse conceived of and designed the project. Isaac N. Gomez and Kara Ormiston performed experiments and analyzed data. All authors contributed to the writing, editing and reviewing of the manuscript.

# Response Preparation Involves a Release of Intracortical Inhibition in Task-Irrelevant Muscles

Isaac N. Gomez, Kara Ormiston, and Ian Greenhouse University of Oregon, Department of Human Physiology, Eugene, Oregon

#### Summary

Action preparation involves widespread modulation of motor system excitability, but the precise mechanisms are unknown. In this study, we investigated whether intracortical inhibition changes in task-irrelevant muscle representations during action preparation. We used transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) combined with electromyography in healthy human adults to measure motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) and cortical silent periods (CSPs) in task-irrelevant muscles during the preparatory period of simple delayed response tasks. In *experiment 1*, participants responded with the left index finger in one task condition and the right index finger in another task condition, whereas MEPs and CSPs were measured from the contralateral nonresponding and tonically contracted index finger. During *experiment 2*, participants responded with the right pinky finger whereas MEPs and CSPs were measured from the tonically contracted left index finger. During *experiment 2*, participants responded with the right pinky finger whereas MEPs and CSPs were measured from the tonically contracted left index finger. In both experiments, MEPs and CSPs were compared between the task preparatory period and a resting intertrial baseline. The CSP duration during response preparation decreased from baseline in every case. A laterality difference was also observed in *experiment 1*, with a greater CSP reduction during the preparation of left finger responses

compared to right finger responses. Despite reductions in CSP duration, consistent with a release of intracortical inhibition, MEP amplitudes were smaller during action preparation when accounting for background levels of muscle activity, consistent with earlier studies that reported decreased corticospinal excitability. These findings indicate that intracortical inhibition associated with task-irrelevant muscles is transiently released during action preparation and implicate a novel mechanism for the controlled and coordinated release of motor cortex inhibition. In this study, we observed the first evidence of a release of intracortical inhibition in task-irrelevant muscle representations during response preparation. We applied transcranial magnetic stimulation to elicit cortical silent periods in task-irrelevant muscles during response preparation, and observed a consistent decrease in the silent period duration relative to a resting baseline. These findings address the question of whether cortical mechanisms underlie widespread modulation in motor excitability during response preparation.

## Introduction

Successful goal-directed behavior depends on the ability to use information in the environment to prepare the motor system for action. However, action preparation is not a pure state of readiness to act. Successful preplanning of actions relies on the monitoring of everchanging levels of uncertainty in the environment to successfully predict future outcomes of actions and to evaluate the ability to cancel actions when they become inappropriate (1). Determining how this balance is achieved in the nervous system during action preparation is an essential piece for understanding the neural mechanisms involved in goal-directed behavior. Inhibitory mechanisms are directly implicated in maintaining this balance. Several transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) studies have found evidence for inhibition of the motor output pathway during the preparation of actions, referred to as preparatory inhibition, measured as a reduction in motor-evoked potential (MEP) amplitudes, following an informative cue in a delayed response task (2–13). Further evidence suggests preparatory inhibition is widespread, influencing not only task-relevant muscles but also task-irrelevant muscles (3, 5). Whether this widespread decrease in motor system excitability during action preparation reflects the influence of local intracortical, long-distance transcortical, or subcortical mechanisms is unclear. The cortical silent period (CSP) is the suppressed activity in the electromyogram (EMG) of a tonically active muscle following a single TMS pulse (<u>14</u>). Early and late portions of the CSP reflect spinal and cortical inhibitory mechanisms, respectively (<u>15</u>, <u>16</u>). Pharmacological studies suggest that a mixture of GABA<sub>A</sub>- and GABA<sub>B</sub>-mediated intracortical inhibitory mechanisms contribute to the latter portion of the CSP (<u>17–20</u>). The most common approach used to measure the CSP includes the complete epoch from the administration of the TMS pulse until the resumption of EMG activity, and this includes the MEP. Isolating the contribution of the MEP duration to the CSP may provide additional insight into the recruitment of specific intracortical mechanisms. MEP duration increases during tonic contraction, is dissociable from MEP amplitude, and strongly correlates with short-interval intracortical inhibition, suggesting MEP duration reflects the influence of cortical mechanisms (<u>21</u>, <u>22</u>). It is unclear whether MEP duration may explain CSP effects commonly reported in the literature and whether the latter portion of the CSP, after the MEP has resolved, reflects distinct intracortical mechanisms.

During action preparation, the duration of the CSP measured from a muscle involved in the planned response progressively shortens over the course of the fore-period—likely the result of increasing neural drive approaching movement onset (2). This release of inhibition, seen in the CSP, occurs in parallel with a decrease in MEP amplitude (2). The collective existing evidence suggests that a local release of intracortical inhibition occurs in the context of a more widespread decrease in corticospinal excitability, possibly via a subcortical or intercortical mechanism. However, although previous CSP studies have focused on task-involved muscles, to our knowledge, no previous work has investigated the CSP in task-irrelevant muscles, and the question of whether changes in intracortical inhibition are specific to task-involved muscles remains unanswered. Furthermore, investigating the CSP in task-irrelevant muscles avoids issues related to changes in neural drive associated with response execution.

In addition, a growing body of literature addresses the putative functions of ipsilateral primary motor cortex (M1) during unilateral responses (23-26). The precise contributions of M1 ipsilateral to the responding muscles remain unclear, with some work suggesting the recruitment of a transcallosal inhibitory mechanism that suppresses M1 ipsilateral to the response hand (27) and other work suggesting cross-activation [28, also see Cabibel et al. (29) for a review]. CSP measurements taken during the preparation of unimanual responses and acquired with TMS

administered ipsilateral to the responding hand, may help to determine the role of inhibition within ipsilateral M1.

In the current study, we sought to assess whether intracortical inhibitory mechanisms contribute to the widespread modulation of motor system excitability during action preparation. To this end, we examined MEP amplitudes and CSP durations in a task-irrelevant muscle during action preparation in a delayed response task. Participants maintained a tonic contraction in the nonresponding hand in order to investigate the CSP in that hand.

We tested three competing hypotheses: 1) CSP duration would be shorter during preparation when compared to a resting baseline, reflecting a widespread release of intracortical inhibition during action preparation. Such a pattern would parallel the pattern observed in a muscle selected for a forthcoming response, implicating a possible common mechanism. Although, more than one mechanism could account for this pattern as well. 2) CSP duration would be longer during preparation when compared to baseline. Such a pattern would be consistent with the recruitment of widespread intracortical inhibition during action preparation, implicating a specific cortical mechanism for preparatory inhibition. 3) There would be no change in CSP duration measured in a task-irrelevant muscle during support against the widespread involvement of intracortical mechanisms in the modulation of corticospinal excitability during action preparation.

## **Materials and Methods**

## **Participants**

A total of 22 healthy, self-reported right-handed participants (10 females, 12 males,  $24 \pm 5$  yr old) were included in the study. Data were collected in two experiments (n = 14 in each). Six participants completed both experiments, and 8 participants were unique to each experiment. All participants were screened for contraindications to TMS and provided written informed consent per a protocol approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Oregon.

## Experimental Setup

Participants were seated comfortably in front of a computer monitor with both hands placed palm-down on the surface of a table. USB-interfaced response buttons were fixed to a button box such that button presses could be executed starting from a resting hand position. The configuration of the response buttons differed between *experiments 1* and 2 (Fig 2.1). Visual stimulus presentation was controlled by Psychtoolbox 3.0, and both EMG recording and the timed administration of TMS pulses were controlled by the VETA toolbox (<u>30</u>) in MATLAB. All experimental task code, analysis code, and data are available for download through the Open Science Framework at <u>https://osf.io/jvnmq/</u>.

## Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation and Electromyography

Surface EMG was recorded using bipolar electrodes placed over both first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscles for *experiment 1*, and the left FDI and right abductor digiti minimi (ADM) in *experiment 2*. A ground electrode was placed over the ulnar styloid process of the left arm. EMG was sampled at 5,000 Hz, amplified  $\times$ 1,000, and bandpass filtered (50–450 Hz; Delsys). At the start of the experiment, maximum voluntary contraction (MVC) of the target FDI muscle was determined using a foam squeeze ball placed between the left index finger and thumb. Participants executed four consecutive 4 s contractions separated by 1 s of rest, and the maximum peak-to-peak amplitude of the EMG activity was calculated. Subsequently, participants were trained in maintaining a tonic contraction of near 25% MVC while holding the foam squeeze ball and visualizing the live EMG trace with markers indicating the target amplitude. In *experiment 1*, the determination of MVC was done separately for the left and right FDI corresponding to the two response conditions. In *experiment 2*, MVC was determined for the left FDI only.

TMS was administered using a Magstim 200-2 stimulator with a 7-cm diameter figure-ofeight coil. The center of the TMS coil was positioned over the left M1 to elicit MEPs and CSPs in the right FDI muscle (*experiment 1* only) and over the right M1 to elicit MEPs and CSPs in the left FDI muscle (*experiments 1* and 2). A standard hot-spotting and thresholding procedure was used while the participant remained at rest.



**Figure 2.1** Left index and right index response conditions relative to transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) coil placement in *experiment 1*. The coil was positioned contralateral to the nonresponding hand, which held a foam squeeze ball (*A*). Right pinky response condition relative to TMS coil placement in *experiment 2* (*B*). Timing of visual stimuli and TMS administration for the delayed response task (*C*). Example EMG trace showing the motor-evoked potential (MEP), and the cortical silent period (CSP) measured from the TMS artifact (CSP<sub>TMS</sub>) and from MEP offset (CSP<sub>MEP</sub>) (*D*).

First, the coil was positioned ~2 cm anterior and 5 cm lateral to the vertex, over the hemisphere contralateral to the target muscle, and with the coil oriented ~45° off the midline to induce a current in the posterior to anterior direction. Second, the TMS intensity was adjusted and the coil was repositioned in incremental adjustments of ~1 cm until consistent MEPs were elicited from the targeted FDI. During this hot-spotting procedure, TMS pulses were administered once every 4 s. Third, once the optimal coil position and orientation were determined, a felt-tip marker was used to trace the coil position directly on the participant's scalp. Finally, the resting motor threshold (RMT) was determined as the intensity of TMS, which elicited MEPs with amplitudes of at least 50  $\mu$ V on five out of ten attempts. During subsequent testing, TMS was administered at 115% RMT. The average RMTs for *experiments 1* and *2* were 47% ± 7% and 46% ± 9% of maximum stimulator output, respectively.

## Unimanual Delayed Response Task

Participants completed a unimanual delayed response task while maintaining a tonic contraction with the nonresponding hand (Fig 2.1, A and B). Each trial of the task consisted of a 200 ms baseline fixation cue, followed by a 900 ms preparatory cue and a 500 ms imperative Go stimulus (Fig 2.1*C*). Each block consisted of 44 Go trials and six randomly interspersed catch trials, in which the preparatory cue remained on the screen through the end of the trial and the Go stimulus never appeared. Catch trials were included to discourage premature responses. Participants were instructed to keep the responding hand at rest between trials and to respond as quickly as possible to the Go stimuli.

Tonic contraction at 25% MVC was maintained in the nonresponding hand throughout each experimental block of the task, and the live EMG traces were monitored by the experimenter on an adjacent display. Verbal feedback was provided to participants, by the experimenter, if the EMG associated with the tonic contraction was outside the 25% MVC range. Participants were successful at maintaining this level of contraction for the duration of the experimental block. TMS was delivered on 32 of 50 trials, either at the onset of the fixation cue (baseline) or 100 ms before the imperative Go stimulus (delay), and at only one time point on a given trial. The trial order was randomized so that participants could not predict the administration or timing of TMS or whether the trial was a Go or catch trial.

### **Experiment 1**

In *experiment 1*, participants completed two task blocks, one with each hand, within a single testing session (Fig 2.1*A*). During one block, participants responded to the imperative stimulus by making a lateral abduction with the left index finger to depress the response button, and the 25% MVC contraction was maintained in the right hand. In the other block, the setup was reversed, such that participants responded to the imperative stimulus by making a lateral abduction with the right index finger to depress the response button, and the 25% MVC contraction was maintained in the response button, and the 25% MVC contraction was maintained in the left hand. In the other block, the setup was reversed, such that participants responded to the imperative stimulus by making a lateral abduction with the right index finger to depress the response button, and the 25% MVC contraction was maintained in the left hand. The block order was counterbalanced across participants. TMS was always delivered to M1 contralateral to the nonresponding, tonically contracted hand, yielding MEP and CSP measurements from the task-irrelevant FDI muscle. With this setup, the nonresponding FDI targeted by TMS was "homologous" to the responding muscle.

## **Experiment 2**

*Experiment 2* consisted of a single task block in which the right abductor digiti minimi (ADM) was the responding muscle and the left FDI was the nonresponding muscle (Fig 2.1*B*). Participants made downward pinky movements (toward the table) to depress a button on a custom-built response device designed for the right hand. As in *experiment 1*, the nonresponding left hand maintained a tonic contraction near 25% MVC and TMS was administered over the right M1 to elicit MEP and CSP measurements from the task-irrelevant left FDI. In contrast to *experiment 1*, this setup represents the "nonhomologous" case, in which the responding muscle (right ADM) is contralateral but "nonhomologous" to the tonically contracted left FDI muscle targeted by TMS.

#### **Data Analysis**

Offline analysis of EMG data was performed using the VETA toolbox and customautomated procedures within MATLAB. Dependent variables of interest included CSP duration, MEP duration, MEP peak-to-peak amplitude, MEP area, button press RT, EMG burst onset RT, and the percentage of failed catch trials. MEP duration was estimated using the MATLAB "findchangepts.m" function in the window from 18 ms to 100 ms following the TMS artifact. The first point was identified as the MEP onset and the last point as the MEP offset (30). CSP duration was estimated using two different approaches differing only in the identified onset of the CSP (Fig 2.1D). For the first approach, the CSP was estimated as the period from the TMS artifact through the resurgence of EMG activity, as in many previous studies. We refer to this estimate of the CSP duration as the CSP<sub>TMS</sub> as it begins with the TMS artifact. For the second approach, the CSP was estimated as the period of MEP offset through the resurgence of EMG activity. We refer to this estimate of the CSP duration as the CSP<sub>MEP</sub>. The latter approach accounts for the possibility that the CSP may not be measurable until after the MEP has resolved and depends on the calculation of the MEP duration (21, 22). Delay period CSP<sub>TMS</sub>, CSP<sub>MEP</sub>, MEP duration, and MEP amplitudes were calculated as a percentage of the respective baseline measurements. Button press and EMG burst onset RTs were calculated separately for no TMS, baseline TMS, and delay period TMS trials. Background EMG was quantified using the root mean square (RMS) of the raw EMG signal in the 100 ms preceding TMS pulses.

We implemented four statistical approaches in our analysis. 1) We used a linear mixed model to analyze the effects of the response hand (left and right) and TMS epoch (baseline and delay) in *experiment 1*. This model included the background RMS EMG as a covariate because this measure was acquired at each level of the two main effects factors and can influence MEP and CSP measurements. 2) We used paired two-tailed *t* tests to compare between conditions of *experiment 2*, with Cohen's *d* effect sizes reported where appropriate. Both the linear mixed model and *t* test analyses were performed in SPSS, v 26. 3) To compare between the two experiments, we used a *t* test for partially overlapping samples (<u>31</u>) conducted in *R. 4*) Finally, we used Bayesian repeated-measures ANOVAs and Bayesian paired *t* test to derive Bayes Factors (BF) to evaluate evidence for data derived from overlapping distributions. These

analyses were performed for MEP amplitudes, RTs, and EMG burst onset RT and were conducted in JASP (32).

#### Results

We present the results of both experiments side-by-side to facilitate comparisons. All participants contributed at least 13 trials for MEP and CSP measures across all conditions measured in each experiment. In *experiment 1*, the average number of MEPs and CSPs for the left response baseline and delay conditions were  $15.3 \pm 0.7$  and  $15.1 \pm 0.9$ , respectively, and for the right response baseline and delay conditions were  $15.8 \pm 0.6$  and  $15.2 \pm 0.6$ , respectively. In *experiment 2*, the average number of MEPs and CSPs for the baseline and delay conditions were  $15.7 \pm 0.5$  and  $14.2 \pm 1.0$ , respectively.

#### CSP<sub>TMS</sub> Duration

Baseline CSP<sub>TMS</sub> durations were  $135 \pm 38$  ms for the left index,  $173 \pm 32$  ms for the right index, and  $139 \pm 34$  ms for right pinky response conditions (Fig 2.2*A*). Delay period CSP<sub>TMS</sub> durations were  $121 \pm 15$  ms for left index,  $160 \pm 15$  ms for right index, and  $133 \pm 18$  ms for right pinky response conditions. Thus, CSP<sub>TMS</sub> duration at baseline was longer for the right index response condition than the other two conditions [vs. left index, t(12) = 8.49, P <0.01, d = 2.35; and vs. right pinky, Z(16.1) = 3.40, P < 0.01]. This was despite the fact that CSPs were measured from the left FDI in both the right index (*experiment 1*) and right pinky (*experiment 2*) response conditions, suggesting a potential effect of homology at baseline. The means  $\pm$  SD of CSP<sub>TMS</sub> duration within-subjects were 17.4 ms for baseline and 16.0 ms for delay measurements.

CSP<sub>TMS</sub> duration during the preparatory delay period decreased from baseline for left index (89.9% ± 8%), right index (92% ± 7%), and right pinky (96% ± 5%) response conditions. In *experiment 1*, main effects of TMS epoch [F(1,22) = 8.7, P < 0.01] and response hand [F(1,13) = 23.9, P < 0.001] were significant. No significant interaction [F(1,13) = 13.2, P = 0.9] was observed. In *experiment 2*, CSP<sub>TMS</sub> duration was also significantly reduced from baseline [t(13) = 2.73, P < 0.05, d = 0.73] during the preparation of right pinky responses. Post hoc comparisons between *experiment 1* and *experiment 2* revealed that the left index response condition showed greater modulation than the right pinky response condition [Z(16.1) = 2.2, P < 0.05, uncorrected], but no significant difference in modulation between the right index and right pinky condition (P = 0.16) was found (Fig 2.2*B*).

To check whether CSP changes could have arisen from changes in the background tonic EMG during the response period, we analyzed the RMS of the tonic EMG signal in the 100 ms epoch following the EMG burst onset in the opposite hand (response epoch) and compared it with the 100 ms epoch preceding the TMS during the delay period. The RMS EMG in the right FDI during the left index response epoch ( $0.23 \pm 0.16 \text{ mV}$ ) did not increase relative to the delay epoch ( $0.22 \pm 0.13 \text{ mV}$ ; P = 0.87). However, the RMS EMG in the left FDI was significantly increased during the right index response ( $0.21 \pm 0.12 \text{ mV}$ ) relative to the delay epoch [ $0.17 \pm 0.09 \text{ mV}$ ; t(13) = 4.1, P < 0.01, d = 1.08, uncorrected]. A similar pattern was observed for the right-pinky response condition which showed a significant increase in RMS EMG during the response epoch ( $0.11 \pm 0.05 \text{ mV}$ ) relative to the delay epoch ( $0.09 \pm 0.04 \text{ mV}$ ) [t(13) = 3.6, P < 0.01, d = 0.96, uncorrected]. Thus, although the pattern of CSP durations did not differ across response conditions, there was a laterality difference in background EMG activity from the delay period to the response.

## CSP<sub>MEP</sub> Duration

The pattern for CSP<sub>MEP</sub> duration was similar to that observed for CSP<sub>TMS</sub> duration, suggesting that differences in the estimated MEP duration did not greatly influence CSP estimates. Baseline CSP<sub>MEP</sub> duration was  $75 \pm 29$  ms for the left index,  $109 \pm 30$  ms for the right index, and  $78 \pm 30$  ms for the right pinky response conditions (Fig 2.2*C*). Consistent with CSP<sub>TMS</sub> results, CSP<sub>MEP</sub> baseline duration was greater in right index responses than in left index [t(13) = 6.0, P < 0.01, d = 1.60, uncorrected] and right pinky [Z(17) = 3.64, P < 0.01, uncorrected] responses. Delay period CSP<sub>MEP</sub> durations were  $59 \pm 17$  ms for left index,  $97 \pm 14$  ms for right index, and  $72 \pm 20$  ms for right pinky response conditions. The SDs of CSP<sub>MEP</sub> duration were 19.4 ms for baseline and 17.1 ms for delay measurements, closely matching that of CSP<sub>TMS</sub>.



**Figure 2.2** Cortical silent period (CSP) duration was measured at baseline and delay transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) epochs for all three response conditions. When measured from the TMS artifact (CSP<sub>TMS</sub>), significant main effects of hand and TMS epoch  $(\ddagger P < 0.01)$  were found for *experiment 1*, and a within-subjects test was significant (\*P < 0.05) for *experiment 2* (*A*). Comparisons between *experiment 1* and *experiment 2* involving partially overlapping samples reveal a significant difference in modulation between left index and right index (§P < 0.05) responses (*B*). When measured from the end of the motor-evoked potential [MEP (CSP<sub>MEP</sub>)], main effects of hand ( $\ddagger P < 0.05$ ) and TMS epoch ( $\ddagger P < 0.01$ ) remained significant in *experiment 1*, however, the within-subjects test was not significant for *experiment 2* (*C*). Comparisons between *experiment 1* and *experiment 2* revealed significant differences in modulation between left index and right pinky (§§P < 0.01) response conditions (*D*).

In *experiment 1*, CSP<sub>MEP</sub> duration decreased from baseline to delay. Significant main effects of TMS epoch [F(1,22) = 18.1, P < 0.001] and response hand [F(1,14) = 6.0, P < 0.05] were found, without a significant interaction [F(1,14) = 0.26, P = 0.6] effect. In *experiment 2*, the change in CSP<sub>MEP</sub> duration trended toward significance in the right pinky response condition [t(13) = 2.1, P = 0.06]. Post hoc comparisons between *experiment 1* and *experiment 2* revealed that the left index response condition showed greater modulation than the right pinky response condition [Z(17) = 3.0, P < 0.01, uncorrected], but no significant difference in modulation between the left index and right pinky condition (P = 0.26, Fig 2.2D).

## **MEP** Duration

Baseline MEP duration was  $36 \pm 7$  ms for the left index,  $41 \pm 4$  ms for the right index, and  $37 \pm 7$  ms for the right pinky response conditions. Baseline MEP duration was significantly shorter for left index than for right index [t(13) = 2.64, P < 0.05, d = 0.7, uncorrected; Fig 2.3*A*] conditions. Neither condition in *experiment 1* differed from right pinky [vs. left index, Z(17) = 0.27, P = 0.8, vs. right index, Z(17) = 1.75, P = 0.1] responses in *experiment 2*. Delay period MEP durations were  $40 \pm 8$  ms for left index,  $41 \pm 3$  ms for right index, and  $37 \pm 8$  ms for right pinky response conditions.

In *experiment 1*, MEP duration increased from baseline to delay, in contrast to the observed shortening of CSP duration. The main effect of TMS epoch was significant [F(1,14) = 12.5, P < 0.01], whereas the effect of responding hand was not [F(1,21) = 0.24, P = 0.6]. A significant interaction [F(1,18) = 8.2, P = 0.01] indicated that the effect of TMS epoch was stronger for the left response condition. In *experiment 2*, MEP duration did not differ between baseline and delay (P = 0.6). Post hoc comparisons revealed no differences between right pinky and left index (P = 0.23) or right index (P = 0.87) response conditions (Fig 2.3*B*).



**Figure 2.3** Motor-evoked potential (MEP) duration was measured at baseline and delay transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) epochs in three different response conditions. In *experiment 1*, the main effect of TMS epoch ( $\ddagger P < 0.01$ ) was significant but the effect of hand was not (P = 0.6), and in *experiment 2*, a within-subjects test showed no difference (P = 0.6) between baseline and delay (A). Comparisons between *experiment 1* and *experiment 2* found no differences (P's > 0.2) between conditions (B).

## **MEP** Amplitudes

Baseline MEP amplitudes were  $6.2 \pm 2.5$  mV in the left index,  $6.8 \pm 2.3$  mV in the right index, and  $4.2 \pm 2.1$  mV in the right pinky response conditions. Delay period MEP amplitudes were  $6.1 \pm 1.5$  mV in the left index,  $6.8 \pm 0.8$  mV in the right index, and  $4.0 \pm 1.2$  mV in the right pinky response conditions (Fig 2.4*A*). Delay period MEP amplitudes as a percentage of baseline were  $99\% \pm 8\%$  for the left index,  $98 \pm 11\%$  for the right index, and  $93 \pm 11\%$  for the right pinky response conditions. Consistent with previous work, MEP amplitudes in *experiment 1* were significantly reduced, albeit a small percentage, during the delay period relative to baseline [F(1,17) = 11.6, P < 0.01] with no significant main effect of hand [F(1,22) = 0.21, P = 0.7] and no significant interaction [F(1,17) = 0.01, P = 0.9]. However, the effect of TMS epoch only reached significance when background EMG was included as a covariate in the statistical model. MEPs in *experiment 2* exhibited a trend for reduced amplitude during the delay relative to baseline, [t(13) = 2.09, P = 0.06]. The comparison in *experiment 1* did not reach significance when background EMG was excluded as a covariate and did not differ between response conditions (*P*'s > 0.15, Fig 2.4*B*). Moreover, the Bayesian repeated-measures ANOVA showed moderate evidence in support of there being no difference in MEP amplitudes between baseline and delay in *experiment 1* [BF<sub>10</sub> = 0.27; BF<sub>10</sub> indicates the Bayes factor in favor of the hypothesis (H1) over the null hypothesis (H0)], whereas a Bayesian paired samples *t* test provided anecdotal evidence in favor of a difference in MEP amplitudes between baseline and delay in *experiment 2* (BF<sub>10</sub> = 1.425).



**Figure 2.4** Motor-evoked potential (MEP) amplitudes were measured at baseline and delay transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) epochs for all three response conditions. In *experiment 1*, the main effect of TMS epoch ( $\ddagger P < 0.01$ ) was significant but the effect of hand was not (P = 0.7), and in *experiment 2*, a within-subjects test showed no significant difference (P = 0.06) between baseline and delay (A). Comparisons between the two experiments did not reach significance (P's > 0.15). No differences were observed in MEP amplitudes as a percentage of baseline (B).

## MEP Area

Baseline MEP area was  $6.3 \pm 4.4$  mV for left index,  $10.8 \pm 3.7$  mV for the right index, and  $4.7 \pm 2.2$  mV for right pinky response conditions. Delay MEP areas were closely matched to baseline, with  $6.3 \pm 4.1$  mV for left index,  $9.9 \pm 3.8$  mV for right index, and  $4.2 \pm 1.5$  mV for right pinky response conditions. MEP area did not differ between baseline and delay for *experiment 1*, as neither main effects of TMS epoch [F(1,13) = 1.9, P = 0.19] nor hand [F(1,18) = 0.05, P = 0.8] were significant, and no interaction [F(1,18) = 0.94, P = 0.3] was found. The same was true

for *experiment 2*, with no difference between baseline and delay (P = 0.12) for right pinky responses.

#### Overall and Pre-TMS Tonic EMG

The maximum tonic EMG in the nonresponding hand averaged across all trials was  $1.35 \pm 0.71$  mV in the left index response condition in *experiment 1*,  $1.34 \pm 0.81$  mV in the right index response condition in *experiment 1*, and  $0.73 \pm 0.30$  mV for *experiment 2*. RMS of the EMG signal in the 100 ms preceding TMS for the left index response condition was not significantly different between baseline  $(0.22 \pm 0.14 \text{ mV})$  and delay periods  $(0.22 \pm 0.13 \text{ mV}; P =$ 0.66). However, there were significant differences between the baseline and delay periods for the right index response condition [baseline:  $0.19 \pm 0.12$  mV and delay:  $0.17 \pm 0.1 \text{ mV}$ ; t(13) = 2.44, P < 0.05, uncorrected, d = 0.65] and right pinky response condition [baseline:  $0.10 \pm 0.04$  mV and delay:  $0.09 \pm 0.04$  mV; t(13) = 2.69, P < 0.05, uncorrected, d = 0.72]. Therefore, in the left index response condition, background EMG differences did not account for the observed differences in the CSPs or MEPs. In the other two cases, the pattern indicates a decrease in background EMG activity during the preparatory period, which one might expect to correspond to an increase rather than a decrease in CSP duration. Moreover, our linear mixed model analysis, which included background EMG as a covariate, indicated that background EMG did not account for differences in the CSP or MEP, with the exception of MEP amplitude in *experiment 1*.

## Button Press and EMG Burst Onset RTs

Button press RTs for *experiment 1* did not differ between left index (noTMS:  $342 \pm 26$  ms; baselineTMS:  $338 \pm 26$  ms; delayTMS:  $338 \pm 26$  ms) and right index (noTMS:  $335 \pm 25$  ms; baselineTMS:  $332 \pm 26$  ms; delayTMS:  $327 \pm 45$  ms) responses, and there was no effect of TMS or TMS timing (all *P*'s > 0.05; effect of hand: BF<sub>10</sub> = 0.46; effect of TMS: BF<sub>10</sub> = 0.14; Fig 2.5*A*). Right pinky response RTs in *experiment 2* (noTMS:  $341 \pm 38$  ms; baselineTMS:  $340 \pm 49$  ms; delayTMS:  $341 \pm 50$  ms) did not differ from left index or right index responses in *experiment 1* (all *P*'s > 0.05). There was also no effect of TMS in *experiment 2* (all *P*'s > 0.05; BF<sub>10</sub> = 0.18; Fig 2.5*B*).
A similar pattern was found for EMG onset RTs. There was no effect of response finger in *experiment 1* (P > 0.05; BF<sub>10</sub> = 0.45), no effect of TMS for either experiment (all P's > 0.05; *experiment 1*: BF<sub>10</sub> = 0.14; *experiment 2*: BF<sub>10</sub> = 0.88), and no difference in EMG burst onset RTs between experiments (all P's > 0.05). Thus, the CSP and MEP results were not explained by differences in response performance.



**Figure 2.5** Button press reaction times (RTs) and electromyogram (EMG) burst onset RTs did not show differences across hands or transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) conditions in *experiment 1* (A) or across TMS conditions in *experiment 2* (B). There were no differences between *experiment 1* and *experiment 2* as well.

## Discussion

In this study, we tested the competing hypotheses that intracortical inhibition increases, decreases, or remains stable in task-irrelevant muscles during the preparation of actions. We found compelling evidence for a decrease in intracortical inhibition during action preparation. Specifically, we observed reductions in the CSP duration measured in a task-irrelevant muscle whether it was homologous (*experiment 1*) or nonhomologous (*experiment 2*) to the contralateral responding muscle. This pattern was not explained by MEP amplitude, MEP duration, MEP area,

or background EMG activity levels. The observed changes in CSP duration implicate a mechanism involved in the cortical release of GABA-ergic inhibition during action preparation. Although the observed pattern could reflect a mechanism distinct from those that influence properties of the MEP, it is possible the release of intracortical inhibition is offset by an opposing inhibitory mechanism that scales in a manner that either stabilizes or reduces the MEP amplitude.

### Interpretation of Reduced Intracortical Inhibition

Several studies have characterized the spinal and cortical contributions to the CSP. Seminal work attributed the first 50–80 ms of the CSP to a spinal origin (<u>16</u>, <u>33</u>) and the later portion to the interruption of voluntary cortical drive (<u>16</u>). These early findings would later be supported by epidural recordings (<u>15</u>) and pharmacological studies (<u>20</u>, <u>34–36</u>). Although the spinal contribution remains relatively stable, the cortical contribution is thought to reflect GABA-ergic intracortical mechanisms and to be primarily responsible for changes in the CSP duration (<u>20</u>, <u>35</u>). Whether such effects are specific to GABA<sub>A</sub>- or GABA<sub>B</sub>-mediated mechanisms remains the subject of debate (<u>18</u>, <u>19</u>). Nevertheless, given the existing evidence for sources of the CSP, we believe our results are best explained by a release of inhibition at the cortical level.

Short-interval intracortical inhibition (SICI) is another TMS-derived index of cortical inhibition, which manifests as a reduction in the MEP amplitude when a conditioning TMS pulse is administered 1–5 ms before a MEP-eliciting test pulse ( $\underline{37}$ ) and is widely accepted to reflect fast-acting GABA<sub>A</sub>-dependent inhibition ( $\underline{38}$ ,  $\underline{39}$ ). SICI is decreased during action preparation, consistent with a transient release of fast intracortical inhibition ( $\underline{3}$ ). Similarly, long-interval intracortical inhibition (LICI) manifests as a reduction in MEP amplitude when a suprathreshold conditioning stimulus precedes a test stimulus by ~100–200 ms ( $\underline{40}$ ,  $\underline{41}$ ). In a warned reaction time task, SICI and LICI in the responding muscle were reduced during a short preparatory fore-period, indicating a release of inhibition ( $\underline{12}$ ). These results suggest that intracortical inhibition is reduced during action preparation in task-relevant muscles. However, task-irrelevant muscles were not investigated in these studies.

In the context of this previous work, our findings suggest that there is a release of intracortical inhibition during action preparation involving multiple GABA-dependent mechanisms acting across different time scales and with potentially different spatial distributions. Our data show that the release of intracortical inhibition in the form of reduced CSP duration, previously observed in task-relevant (2) muscles, extends to task-irrelevant muscles as well. Further studies should investigate whether SICI and LICI change in task-irrelevant muscles during response preparation to address the question of whether the spatial extent of the release of intracortical inhibition is shared across multiple mechanisms or could dissociate between different cortical inhibitory mechanisms.

## Motor-Evoked Potentials, Laterality Differences, and Ipsilateral Modulation

MEP duration also showed an interesting pattern, exhibiting a significant increase from baseline to delay, but only for left index response trials. We also note that there were marked laterality differences in CSP duration. These likely reflect the influence of hand-dominance, as CSPs were shorter in the dominant hand. This finding replicates previous work that reported hand-dominance effects on CSP without changes in MEP amplitude, latency, and threshold (42). MEP amplitudes did not exhibit a similar pattern, pointing to an interesting dissociation between MEP duration and MEP amplitude.

Interestingly, we observed a decrease in the RMS of the EMG activity immediately preceding the TMS pulse between baseline and delay period measurements, but this was only the case for right-hand responses, i.e., when tonic EMG was recorded from the left FDI. We also observed increased tonic EMG activity during the transition from the delay period into the response phase but only for right-hand responses. These patterns may reflect laterality differences, although opposite to the pattern we observed for MEP duration. Moreover, this did not appear to influence MEP amplitudes.

Although hand-dominance may explain the differences between left index and right index responses, we were unable to compare the differences between the index and pinky response conditions within participants. Therefore, differences between the right index and right pinky response conditions may be explained by intersubject differences.

Our results have additional relevance for the mechanisms engaged in the ipsilateral motor cortex during unilateral actions. There remains debate about whether ipsilateral motor cortex is activated or inhibited during action  $(\underline{23}-\underline{29})$ . Our observation of a release of intracortical inhibition ipsilateral to the responding hand is consistent with a role for activation.

#### Alternative Interpretations and Limitations

The CSPs and MEPs were measured from tonically active muscles, which complicates comparisons of our results to previous investigations of preparatory inhibition. We observed a decrease in MEP amplitudes during response preparation, a finding from multiple previous studies (3-5, 7-10, 12). However, this was only significant when background EMG was included as a covariate and the proportional decrease in MEP amplitudes was smaller than in the majority of previous studies. This could be explained by the level of tonic EMG maintained in the muscle from which CSPs were measured. By asking participants to remain in a tonically active state, we may have diminished the commonly observed preparatory MEP suppression and, in exchange, uncovered a decrease in CSP duration. Previously, authors measured MEPs in task-irrelevant muscles while at rest, which deliberately avoids the possible interference introduced by tonic EMG activity. We note that one previous study observed reduced MEP amplitudes during response preparation in a tonically active muscle  $(\underline{6})$  although the muscle was task-relevant and tonic contraction was 5%–10% MVC, a lower intensity than we used here. In contrast, the design of the current study, which required participants to maintain 25% MVC, likely introduced interhemispheric effects and stronger descending corticospinal drive. Interestingly, previous work suggests that a low-intensity, but not a high-intensity, contraction results in decreased MEP amplitudes in a task-irrelevant homologous muscle (43).

We also note that RMT served as the reference for determining the TMS intensity used for CSP measurements, rather than an active motor threshold (AMT) as has been frequently used in other studies. This yielded MEP amplitudes larger than those found in most previous studies. The higher level of activation may have further impacted our ability to detect changes in MEPs during the task. On a separate note, even with these large MEP amplitudes, we did not observe a difference in reaction times between trials with and without TMS, raising questions about the

possible source of RT differences reported in previous work. In the response hand, this pattern of faster RTs in the presence of TMS may reflect the influence of a shortened CSP.

As we only measured EMG from hand muscles, we cannot make strong claims about the widespread nature of CSP modulation in other task-irrelevant muscles. Similarly, it is unclear whether the CSP results from GABA<sub>A</sub> and GABA<sub>B</sub> mechanisms. Comparing SICI, LICI, and CSP measurements will help to elucidate which of these mechanisms may be responsible for preparatory modulation in task-irrelevant muscles.

## Conclusion

We observed evidence of a non-focal release of intracortical inhibition during the preparation of actions evident in the form of decreased duration of CSPs measured from taskirrelevant muscles. Our findings are consistent with a model in which response preparation involves a widespread release of cortical inhibition and extend those of previous studies that reported changes in other TMS-derived markers of intracortical inhibition in muscles involved in the task. Furthermore, we wish to highlight that MEP amplitudes did not show a pattern consistent with a release of inhibition. Instead, our results suggest that the release of intracortical inhibition might arise from a mechanism that operates independent of other mechanisms that influence corticospinal excitability or from one that is offset by an additional inhibitory mechanism that influences the MEP. These findings have clinical relevance for diseases that impair response initiation, such as Parkinson's disease, stroke, and trauma, by providing insight into potentially affected mechanisms. Intracortical inhibition is abnormal in movement disorders, including Parkinson's disease, dystonia, and stroke, that are also characterized by impaired response initiation. The functional significance of abnormal intracortical inhibition in these cases remains uncertain. The application of our approach in these populations may be useful for determining whether the release of intracortical inhibition during response preparation relates to specific symptoms in these populations.

### Disclosures

No conflicts of interest, financial or otherwise, are declared by the authors.

## **References Cited**

1. Mirabella G. Should I stay or should I go? Conceptual underpinnings of goal-directed actions. Front Syst Neurosci 8: 206, 2014. doi:10.3389/ fnsys.2014.00206.

2. Davranche K, Tandonnet C, Burle B, Meynier C, Vidal F, Hasbroucq T. The dual nature of time preparation: neural activation and suppression revealed by transcranial magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex. Eur J Neurosci 25: 3766–3774, 2007. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05588.x.

3. Duque J, Ivry RB. Role of corticospinal suppression during motor preparation. Cereb Cortex 19: 2013–2024, 2009. doi:10.1093/cercor/ bhn230.

4. Duque J, Lew D, Mazzocchio R, Olivier E, Ivry RB. Evidence for two concurrent inhibitory mechanisms during response preparation. J Neurosci 30: 3793–3802, 2010. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 5722-09.2010.

5. Greenhouse I, Sias A, Labruna L, Ivry RB. Nonspecific inhibition of the motor system during response preparation. J Neurosci 35: 10675–10684, 2015. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1436-15.2015.

6. Hannah R, Cavanagh SE, Tremblay S, Simeoni S, Rothwell JC. Selective suppression of local interneuron circuits in human motor cortex contributes to movement preparation. J Neurosci 38: 1264–1276, 2018. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2869-17.2017.

7. Hasbroucq T, Kaneko H, Akamatsu M, Possamaiï CA. Preparatory inhibition of cortico-spinal excitability: a transcranial magnetic stimulation study in man. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res 5: 185–192, 1997. doi:10.1016/S0926-6410(96)00069-9.

8. Ibánez J ~, Hannah R, Rocchi L, Rothwell JC. Premovement suppression of corticospinal excitability may be a necessary part of movement preparation. Cereb Cortex 30: 2910–2923, 2020. doi:10.1093/ cercor/bhz283.

9. Labruna L, Tischler C, Cazares C, Greenhouse I, Duque J, Lebon F, Ivry RB. Planning face, hand, and leg movements: anatomical constraints on preparatory inhibition. J Neurophysiol 121: 1609–1620, 2019. doi:10.1152/jn.00711.2018.

10. Lebon F, Greenhouse I, Labruna L, Vanderschelden B, Papaxanthis C, Ivry RB. Influence of delay period duration on inhibitory processes for response preparation. Cereb Cortex 26: 2461–2470, 2016. doi:10. 1093/cercor/bhv069.

11. Quoilin C, Lambert J, Jacob B, Klein P-A, Duque J. Comparison of motor inhibition in variants of the instructed-delay choice reaction time task. PLoS One 11: e0161964, 2016. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0161964.

12. Sinclair C, Hammond GR. Reduced intracortical inhibition during the foreperiod of a warned reaction time task. Exp Brain Res 186: 385–392, 2008. doi:10.1007/s00221-007-1241-4.

13. Vassiliadis P, Derosiere G, Grandjean J, Duque J. Motor training strengthens corticospinal suppression during movement preparation. J Neurophysiol 124: 1656–1666, 2021. doi:10.1152/jn.00378.2020.

14. Wilson SA, Lockwood RJ, Thickbroom GW, Mastaglia FL. The muscle silent period following transcranial magnetic cortical stimulation. J Neurolo Sci 114: 216–222, 1993. doi:10.1016/0022-510x(93)90301-e.

15. Chen R, Lozano AM, Ashby P. Mechanism of the silent period following transcranial magnetic stimulation. Evidence from epidural recordings. Exp Brain Res 128: 539–542, 1999. doi:10.1007/s002210050878.

16. Fuhr P, Agostino R, Hallett M. Spinal motor neuron excitability during the silent period after cortical stimulation. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 81: 257–262, 1991. doi:10.1016/0168-5597(91) 90011-1.

17. Inghilleri M, Berardelli A, Marchetti P, Manfredi M. Effects of diazepam, baclofen and thiopental on the silent period evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation in humans. Exp Brain Res 109: 467–472, 1996. doi:10.1007/BF00229631.

18. McDonnell MN, Orekhov Y, Ziemann U. The role of GABA(B) receptors in intracortical inhibition in the human motor cortex. Exp Brain Res 173: 86–93, 2006. doi:10.1007/s00221-006-0365-2.

19. Paulus W, Classen J, Cohen LG, Large CH, Lazzaro VD, Nitsche M, Pascual-Leone A, Rosenow F, Rothwell JC. Ziemann U. State of the art: Pharmacologic effects on cortical excitability measures tested by transcranial magnetic stimulation. Brain Stimul 1: 151–163, 2008. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2008.06.002.

20. Werhahn KJ, Kunesch E, Noachtar S, Benecke R, Classen J. Differential effects on motorcortical inhibition induced by blockade of GABA uptake in humans. J Physiol 517: 591–597, 1999. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.0591t.x.

21. Brum M, Cabib C, Valls-Sole J. Clinical value of the assessment of changes in MEP duration with voluntary contraction. Front Neurosci 9: 505, 2016. doi:10.3389/fnins.2015.00505.

22. van den Bos MA, Geevasinga N, Menon P, Burke D, Kiernan MC, Vucic S. Physiological processes influencing motor-evoked potential duration with voluntary contraction. J Neurophysiol 117: 1156–1162, 2017. doi:10.1152/jn.00832.2016.

23. Rao SM, Binder JR, Bandettini PA, Hammeke TA, Yetkin FZ, Jesmanowicz A, Lisk LM, Morris GL, Mueller WM, Estkowski LD, Wong EC, Haughton VM, Hyde JS. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of complex human movements. Neurology 43: 2311–2318, 1993. doi:10.1212/wnl.43.11.2311.

24. Dixon TC, Merrick CM, Wallis JD, Ivry RB, Carmena JM. Hybrid local and distributed coding in PMd/M1 provides separation and interaction of bilateral arm signals (Preprint). bioRxiv 310664, 2020. doi:10.1101/2020.09.23.310664.

25. Kawashima R, Matsumura M, Sadato N, Naito E, Waki A, Nakamura S, Matsunami K, Fukuda H, Yonekura Y. Regional cerebral blood flow changes in human brain related to ipsilateral and contralateral complex hand movements—a PET study. Eur J Neurosci 10: 2254–2260, 1998. doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.1998.00237.x.

26. Schaefer SY, Haaland KY, Sainburg RL. Hemispheric specialization and functional impact of ipsilateral deficits in movement coordination and accuracy. Neuropsychologia 47: 2953–2966, 2009 [Erratum in Neuropsychologia 48: 1178–1180, 2010]. doi:10. 1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.06.025.

27. Kobayashi M, Hutchinson S, Schlaug G, Pascual-Leone A. Ipsilateral motor cortex activation on functional magnetic resonance imaging during unilateral hand movements is related to interhemispheric interactions. Neuroimage 20: 2259–2270, 2003. doi:10.1016/s1053-8119 (03)00220-9.

28. Muellbacher W, Facchini S, Boroojerdi B, Hallett M. Changes in motor cortex excitability during ipsilateral hand muscle activation in humans. Clin Neurophysiol 111: 344–349, 2000. doi:10.1016/s1388- 2457(99)00243-6.

29. Cabibel V, Hordacre B, Perrey S. Implication of the ipsilateral motor network in unilateral voluntary muscle contraction: the cross-activation phenomenon. J Neurophysiol 123: 2090–2098, 2020. doi:10.1152/jn.00064.2020.

30. Jackson N, Greenhouse I. VETA: an open-source Matlab-based Toolbox for the collection and analysis of electromyography combined with transcranial magnetic stimulation. Front Neurosci 13: 975, 2019. doi:10.3389/fnins.2019.00975.

31. Derrick B, Russ B, Toher D, White P. Test statistics for the comparison of means for two samples that include both paired and independent observations. J Mod App Stat Meth 16: 137–157, 2017. doi:10.22237/jmasm/1493597280.

32. JASP Team. JASP (Version 0.14) [Computer software], 2020. https://jasp-stats.org/.

33. Ziemann U, Netz J, Szelenyi A, Homberg V. € Spinal and supraspinal mechanisms contribute to the silent period in the contracting soleus muscle after transcranial magnetic stimulation of human motor cortex. Neurosci Lett 156: 167–171, 1993. doi:10.1016/0304-3940(93) 90464-v.

34. Pierantozzi M, Marciani MG, Palmieri MG, Brusa L, Galati S, Caramia MD, Bernardi G, Stanzione P. Effect of Vigabatrin on motor responses to transcranial magnetic stimulation: an effective tool to investigate in vivo GABAergic cortical inhibition in humans. Brain Res 1028: 1–8, 2004. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2004.06.009.

35. Siebner HR, Dressnandt J, Auer C, Conrad B. Continuous intrathecal baclofen infusions induced a marked increase of the transcranially evoked silent period in a patient with generalized dystonia. Muscle Nerve 21: 1209–1212, 1998. doi:10.1002/(sici)1097-4598 (199809)21:9%3C1209::aid-mus15%3E3.0.co;2-m.

36. Ziemann U, Bruns D, Paulus W. Enhancement of human motor cortex inhibition by the dopamine receptor agonist pergolide: evidence from transcranial magnetic stimulation. Neurosci Lett 208: 187–190, 1996. doi:10.1016/0304-3940(96)12575-1.

37. Kujirai T, Caramia MD, Rothwell JC, Day BL, Thompson PD, Ferbert A, Wroe S, Asselman P, Marsden CD. Corticocortical inhibition in human motor cortex. J Physiol 471: 501–519, 1993. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1993.sp019912.

38. Di Lazzaro VD, Oliviero A, Saturno E, Dileone M, Pilato F, Nardone R, Ranieri F, Musumeci G, Fiorilla T, Tonali P. Effects of lorazepam on short latency afferent inhibition and short latency intracortical inhibition in humans. J Physiol 564: 661–668, 2005. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2004.061747.

39. Di Lazzaro VD, Pilato F, Dileone M, Ranieri F, Ricci V, Profice P, Bria P, Tonali PA, Ziemann U. GABAA receptor subtype specific enhancement of inhibition in human motor cortex. J Physiol 575: 721–726, 2006. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2006.114694.

40. Nakamura H, Kitagawa H, Kawaguchi Y, Tsuji H. Intracortical facilitation and inhibition after transcranial magnetic stimulation in conscious humans. J Physiol 498: 817–823, 1997. doi:10.1113/jphysiol. 1997.sp021905.

41. Valls-Sole J , Pascual-Leone A, Wassermann EM, Hallett M. Human motor evoked responses to paired transcranial magnetic stimuli. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 85: 355–364, 1992. doi:10.1016/0168-5597(92)90048-g.

42. Priori A, Oliviero A, Donati E, Callea L, Bertolasi L, Rothwell JC. Human handedness and asymmetry of the motor cortical silent period. Exp Brain Res 128: 390–396, 1999. doi:10.1007/s002210050859.

43. Liepert J, Dettmers C, Terborg C, Weiller C. Inhibition of ipsilateral motor cortex during phasic generation of low force. Clin Neurophysiol 112: 114–121, 2001. doi:10.1016/s1388-2457(00)00503-4.

## Bridge

This chapter represents one of the few published studies that show evidence of disinhibition during movement preparation. A reduction in MEP amplitude coupled with a shortened CSP duration indicates two opposing processes, and implicates a non-cortical source of preparatory inhibition. Previous work has shown that both MEP and CSP measures change over the course of motor adaptation during reaching tasks. However, whether these same physiological markers change during the preparation of reaches in a manner similar to finger responses has not been investigated. In the following chapter, we outline novel methods for using single-pulse TMS in conjunction with 2-dimensional reaching on a tablet surface. These methods offer a general and flexible approach to using non-invasive electrophysiology to investigate the motor system under the widely studied behavioral context of reaching. These methods attempt to bridge two disparate areas of research, and form the basis for the experiments outlined in subsequent chapters.

# CHAPTER III ASSESSING CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY DURING GOAL-DIRECTED REACHING BEHAVIOR

### Contributions

This work was published in the Journal of Visualized Experiments in December of 2022. Isaac N. Gomez and Ian Greenhouse conceived of and designed the project. Isaac N. Gomez and Kara Ormiston performed experiments and analyzed data. All authors contributed to the writing, editing and reviewing of the manuscript.

## Assessing Corticospinal Excitability During Goal-Directed Reaching Behavior

Isaac N. Gomez<sup>1</sup>, Serena Orsinger<sup>1</sup>, Hyosub E. Kim<sup>2</sup>, and Ian Greenhouse<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>University of Oregon, Department of Human Physiology, Eugene, Oregon <sup>2</sup>University of Delaware, Department of Physical Therapy, Newark, Delaware

#### Summary

Reaching is a widely studied behavior in motor physiology and neuroscience research. While reaching has been examined using a variety of behavioral manipulations, there remain significant gaps in the understanding of the neural processes involved in reach planning, execution, and control. The novel approach described here combines a two-dimensional reaching task with transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and concurrent electromyography (EMG) recording from multiple muscles. This method allows for the noninvasive detection of corticospinal activity at precise time points during the unfolding of reaching movements. The example task code includes a delayed response reaching task with two possible targets displayed  $\pm 45^{\circ}$  off the midline. Single pulse TMS is delivered on the majority of task trials, either at the onset of the preparatory cue (baseline) or 100 ms prior to the imperative cue (delay). This sample design is suitable for investigating changes in corticospinal excitability during reach preparation. The sample code also includes a visuomotor perturbation (i.e., cursor rotation of  $\pm 20^{\circ}$ ) to investigate the effects of adaptation on corticospinal excitability during reach preparation. The

task parameters and TMS delivery can be adjusted to address specific hypotheses about the state of the motor system during reaching behavior. In the initial implementation, motor evoked potentials (MEPs) were successfully elicited on 83% of TMS trials, and reach trajectories were recorded on all trials.

## Introduction

Goal-directed reaching is a fundamental motor behavior that allows humans to interact with and manipulate the external environment. The study of reaching in the fields of motor physiology, psychology, and neuroscience has produced rich and extensive literature that includes a variety of methodologies. Early studies of reaching used direct neural recordings in non-human primates to investigate neural activity at the level of single neurons 1,2. More recent studies have investigated reaching using behavioral paradigms that employ sensorimotor adaptation to explore the nature of motor learning and control  $^{3-5}$ . Such behavioral tasks combined with functional magnetic resonance imaging and electroencephalography can measure whole brain activity during reaching in humans $^{6,7}$ . Other studies have applied online TMS to investigate various features of reach preparation and execution  $^{8-14}$ . However, there remains a need for an open-source and flexible approach that combines the behavioral assessment of reaching with TMS. While the utility of combining TMS with behavioral protocols is very well established<sup>15</sup>, here, we specifically examine the application of TMS within the context of reaching using an open-source approach. This is novel in that other groups who have published using this combination of methods have not made their tools readily available, prohibiting direct replication. This open-source approach facilitates replication, data sharing, and the possibility of multi-site studies. Additionally, should others wish to pursue novel research questions with similar tools, the open-source code can act as a launch pad for innovation, as it is readily adaptable.

TMS offers a noninvasive means of probing the motor system at precisely controlled time points<sup>16</sup>. When applied over the primary motor cortex (M1), TMS can elicit a measurable deflection in the electromyogram of a targeted muscle. The amplitude of this voltage wave, known as the motor evoked potential (MEP), provides an index of the momentary excitability

state of the corticospinal (CS) pathway-a resultant analog of all excitatory and inhibitory influences on the CS pathway<sup>17</sup>. In addition to providing a reliable within- subject measurement of intrinsic CS excitability, TMS can be combined with other behavioral or kinematic metrics to investigate the relationships between CS activity and behavior in a temporally precise manner. Many studies have utilized a combination of TMS and electromyography (EMG) to address a variety of questions about the motor system, particularly since this combination of methods makes it possible to investigate MEPs under a vast array of behavioral conditions<sup>15</sup>. One area where this has proven particularly useful is in the study of action preparation, most often through the study of single-joint movements<sup>18</sup>. However, there are comparatively fewer TMS studies of naturalistic multi-joint movements such as reaching.

The current goal was to design a delayed-response reaching task that includes behavioral kinematics, online single-pulse TMS administration, and simultaneous EMG recording from multiple muscles. The task includes a two- dimensional point-to-point reaching paradigm with online visual feedback using a horizontally oriented monitor such that visual feedback matches reach trajectories (i.e., a 1:1 relationship during veridical feedback and no transformation between visual feedback and motion). The current design also includes a set of trials with a visuomotor perturbation. In the provided example, this is a 20° rotational shift in the cursor feedback. Previous studies have used a similar reaching paradigm to address questions about the mechanisms and computations associated with sensorimotor adaptation<sup>19-25</sup>. Furthermore, this approach makes it possible to assess motor system excitability dynamics at precise time points during online motor learning.

Because reaching has proven to be a fruitful behavior for investigating learning/adaptation, assessing CS excitability in the context of this behavior has enormous potential to shed light on the neural substrates involved in these behaviors. These may include local inhibitory influences, changes in tuning properties, the timing of neural events, etc., as have been established in non-human primate research. However, these features have been more difficult to quantify in humans and clinical populations. Neural dynamics can also be investigated in the absence of overt movement in humans using the combined TMS and EMG approach (i.e., during the preparation of movement or at rest).

The tools presented are open-source, and the code is easily adaptable. This novel paradigm will produce important insights into the mechanisms involved in the preparation, execution, termination, and adaptation of reaching movements. Moreover, this combination of methods has the potential to uncover relationships between electrophysiology and reaching behavior in humans.

## Protocol

All methods detailed here were performed in compliance with IRB protocol and approval (University of Oregon IRB protocol number 10182017.017). Informed consent was obtained from all subjects.

## Reaching apparatus

- 1. Place a large graphics tablet flat on a desktop.
- 2. Use an adjustable 80-20 aluminum frame to position the task monitor 6-8 in above the tablet in parallel, with the screen facing upward (for a blueprint, check here: https://github.com/greenhouselab/ Reach\_TMS and Supplementary Figure 3.3). Note: This setup allows for participants to reach across the tablet and acquire targets presented on the task monitor while occluding vision of their reaching arm.
- 3. Use the setup described in Kim et al.<sup>3</sup> as a reference.

### Machine Interfaces

- 1. Connect the tablet to the computer via a USB port. Connect the task monitor to the computer *via* the HDMI port. Connect the rear TMS port to the computer *via* a DB-9 cable.
- 2. Connect the EMG system to the computer *via* a PCI-6220 card DAQ. Connect the photodiode to the EMG system *via* a BNC cable.

## Photodiode Sensor

4. Attach a photodiode sensor to the BNC cable. Secure the photodiode sensor with tape to the top-right corner of the task monitor, with the sensor facing the screen,  $\leq 1$  cm away.

Note: This will record the timing of stimuli presented on the task monitor as analog data in an independent input channel.

## Software

- 1. Download VETA Toolbox (<u>https://github.com/greenhouselab/Veta</u>) for Matlab 2018 to interface with the hardware for data collection.
- Download the reaching task code (<u>https://github.com/greenhouselab/Reach\_TMS</u>) developed for the control of experimental parameters and interfacing with the tablet.

## Participant Screening and Informed Consent

- Screen the subject for contraindications to TMS. Exclusion criteria include a personal or family history of seizure, headache, brain trauma, fainting, chronic stress or anxiety, problems with sleep, and any neuroactive medication. Additional exclusion criteria include any metal implants in the brain or skull and any recreational drug or alcohol use in the 24 h prior to testing. Inclusion criteria included right-handedness and age between 18 and 35 years.
- 2. Provide a written explanation of the procedure and associated risks, clarifying any further questions the participant may have.
- 3. Obtain informed consent from participants.

## Subject Setup

- 1. Position the subject in a comfortable chair facing the tablet. Ensure that the knees are flexed to 90° with the legs under the desk.
- 2. Prepare the skin and place EMG electrodes.
  - Use fine-grain sandpaper to gently abrade the skin at the site of the right first dorsal interossei (FDI), extensor carpi radialis, and anterior deltoid muscles, as well as the C4 prominence at the base of the neck, to detect electrical artifacts produced by the TMS pulse. Note: Muscle recording sites can be adapted based on user needs.

- 2. Swab each abraded area with an alcohol prep pad once per electrode site to clean.
- Place one EMG electrode on each site. Ensure that the electrodes run perpendicular to the muscle fibers. Place the ground electrode on the bony prominence of the right elbow.
- 4. Secure each electrode with medical tape.
- 3. Check the quality of the EMG recording. Use the VETA toolbox to visualize all EMG traces and ensure they are free of artifacts. If EMG traces are noisy, ensure the ground is properly placed and that all electrodes make proper contact with the skin.

## Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation

- 1. Turn on the TMS machine.
- 2. Find the TMS hot spot of the right FDI muscle via stimulation of the left M1.
  - 1. Place the coil  $\sim$ 5 cm lateral and 2 cm anterior to the vertex of the head, oriented  $\sim$ 45° off the midline.
  - 2. Administer TMS pulses once every 4 s while repositioning the coil in increments of approximately 5 mm in the anterior-posterior and medial-lateral plane.
  - 3. Beginning at 30% maximum stimulator output, gradually increase the TMS intensity by 2% increments until MEPs are observed.
  - 4. Once the optimum location is identified, at which MEPs can be reliably elicited on the majority (~75%) of pulses at the lowest possible stimulator intensity, determine the resting motor threshold (RMT) by finding the intensity level that produces MEPs with a peak-to-peak amplitude of >50  $\mu$ V on five out of 10 pulses.
  - 5. Mark the position by gently placing thin strips of reflective tape on the participant's head along the perimeter of the coil. Maintain coil positioning either by manually holding the coil or using a stand to support it.

## Reaching Task Setup

- 1. Put a Velcro glove on the right hand of the participant to facilitate a relaxed power grip posture.
- 2. Attach the stylus to the glove and advise the subject to keep the hand relaxed between reaching movements.
- 3. Communicate the task instructions, which are as follows: Guide the cursor to the home position on the bottom of the screen. You will see a cue at one of two target locations. When the target fills in with color, reach through the target as fast and as accurately as possible. Then return to the home position. Indicate locations of home positions, cues, and targets (Fig 3.1A).
- 4. Coach the participant to slice through targets with the stylus as quickly and as accurately as possible. Turn off the lights in the task room to obscure the participant's vision of arm movements and improve the visibility of the task monitor.

## Task Design

- 1. Control visual stimulus presentation with Psychtoolbox 3.0 in Matlab 2018.
- 2. Use the following parameters to match the current data: 20 practice trials; 270 test trials; TMS on 4/5 of test trials; TMS either coincides with the preparatory cue onset (baseline TMS) or 100 ms before the imperative cue (delay TMS) with equal frequency; 1/10 of total trials are catch trials, in which the imperative cue does not appear; the home position is a circle with a 2 cm radius positioned in the bottom center of the workspace; two circular targets with 1 cm radius are positioned 15 cm from the home position at +45° and -45° away from the midline.
- 3. Set the event order and durations as follows: preparatory cue at 900 ms and imperative cue at 900 ms.

## TMS Administration

- The VETA toolbox concurrently administers TMS and records EMG https://github.com/greenhouselab/Veta.
- 2. Control the timing of the TMS pulses with the VETA toolbox to coincide with the chosen behavioral events (i.e., the onset of the preparatory cue or 100 ms preceding target onset).

3. Deliver TMS with sufficient frequency to ensure a sufficient number of MEPs for analysis. Note: As written, the task code will deliver a TMS pulse on 4/5 of total trials either at the onset of the preparatory cue-to elicit baseline MEPs-or 100 ms before the imperative cue-to elicit delayed MEPs. Parameters can be adjusted in the code according to user needs. Trials without TMS can be used to evaluate behavioral performance in the absence of TMS. This is useful for determining any possible influence of TMS on performance.

### **Representative Results**

Successful execution of the described methods includes the recording of tablet data, EMG traces, and reliable elicitation of MEPs. An experiment was completed that included 270 test trials with TMS delivered on 4/5 of the trials (216 trials).

Data were collected from 16 participants (eight females; eight males) aged  $25 \pm 10$  years, all of whom self-reported as right-handed. We assessed the effectiveness of the visual perturbation on behavioral performance by deriving a learning function for one representative participant. These data are presented in **Figure 3.1B** and show that the participant's hand target error adjusted to the perturbation and washout conditions as expected. We also evaluated the standard deviation of the target error during baseline reaches, which approximated 4.5° (**Fig 3.1B**). This is consistent with previous studies<sup>24</sup>.

One TMS pulse was delivered on each trial. Half of the pulses were delivered at baseline, and half were delivered during a preparatory delay period (**Fig 3.2A**). An average of  $91 \pm 23$ baseline and  $88 \pm 20$  delay MEPs were successfully recorded per participant, corresponding to 84% and 81% success rates, respectively. MEPs were counted only when amplitudes exceeded .05 mV. Reach trajectories were successfully captured from the graphics tablet on all trials, excluding catch trials (i.e., trials in which the "go" cue was not presented and trials in which participants either failed to initiate a reach or initiated before the imperative cue).

The average delay period (duration between the preparatory and imperative cue) was 915  $\pm$  0.5 ms (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation). Baseline TMS was administered 26  $\pm$  8 ms after preparatory cue onset, and delay TMS was 126  $\pm$  3 ms prior to imperative cue onset (**Fig 3.2B**).

The consistent deviation from the intended TMS administration time in each case indicates that further optimization is needed to account for undesired latencies introduced by hardware or software components. However, the relatively low proportional variance in these latencies suggests these are mostly fixed delays that can be controlled with additional pilot testing and indicate that the timing of events is generally reliable across trials.



Figure 3.1 Behavioral data collected from the tablet. (A) The workspace includes the home position (dark blue), two targets (cyan), and a representative set of reach trajectories from the pre-exposure block of a single participant. (B) Target error was calculated as the distance in degrees from the endpoint of the reach to the center of the target. Trial bins are the mean of two consecutive trials per bin, and the data are separated by experimental blocks: Pre-exposure (unshaded), exposure (red), washout in the absence of feedback (green), and washout with veridical feedback (unshaded).



Figure 3.2 Example MEP traces. (A) Representative MEPs and corresponding photodiode trace for both experimental epochs (baseline and delay). (B) Negative baseline MEP latency (-26  $\pm$  8 ms) indicates that the TMS stimulus arrived after the preparatory cue, while positive delay MEP latency (126  $\pm$  3 ms) indicates that the TMS stimulus arrived before the desired time point (100 ms prior to the imperative cue). Latencies are averaged across all participants (n = 16).

#### Discussion

The methods outlined above offer a novel approach to studying motor preparation in the context of reaching behaviors. Although reaching represents a popular model task in the study of motor control and learning, there is a need for precisely evaluating the CS dynamics associated with reaching behavior. TMS offers a noninvasive, temporally precise method of capturing CS activity at discrete time points during reaching. The approach described here combines two independent subfields-TMS and reaching-into a single paradigm that involves the simultaneous recording of kinematic and electrophysiological metrics.

While the methods described have the potential to reveal important insights into action control in the context of reaching, there are certain limitations and considerations. Most importantly, the reliability of MEP measurements depends on the stability of the EMG activity prior to TMS administration, as well as the number of MEPs captured<sup>27</sup>. It is critical that EMG data quality be assessed prior to data collection. For sufficient statistical power, a minimum of 20 MEP measurements per task condition are recommended. Additionally, while changes in the MEP represent a quantitative change in CS excitability, the nature of TMS and the resultant MEP produce a rather crude, summary metric of CS activity, and their causal relationship to behavior should be interpreted with caution<sup>15</sup>. Furthermore, the graphics tablet requires that the stylus maintain contact with the tablet surface, which limits the range of reaching tasks and grip apertures that can be employed.

Despite the limitations of this specific protocol, the combination of TMS and EMG for indexing motor system excitability during behavioral tasks other than reaching is well established<sup>15</sup>. Advantages of this combined approach include the ability to measure CS excitability dynamics even in the absence of overt movement, as well as in task- irrelevant muscles. This approach also offers high temporal precision, on the order of milliseconds. Additionally, the protocol described here can be adapted to work with any number of EMG devices that interface directly with a stimulus presentation computer *via* the listed input/output devices.

Given these advantages, the protocol can help bridge the gap between human and animal studies. A large body of research in non-human primates has examined the electrophysiological mechanisms associated with reaching and motor learning in the context of reaching. Further investigations in humans using the combined TMS and EMG approach can help to bridge non-human electrophysiology and human behavioral findings. Previous studies of MEPs in the context of reaching have shown a facilitatory effect of TMS during reach and grasp preparation when the parietal cortex, premotor cortex, and parietal-M1 circuits were stimulated prior to movement<sup>8,14</sup>. However, the amplitudes of resting evoked potentials measured with electroencephalography 75 to 150 ms after TMS over the M1 were reduced following force field adapatation<sup>13</sup>. The nuanced relationship between reaching preparation, adaptation, and changes in CS warrants further investigation. Moreover, by using the same set of tools and methods across laboratories, replication will be more achievable, and this will aid the interpretability of study results.

While the focus here is on TMS of the M1, several studies have utilized dual-site TMS to investigate interactions between cortical areas (e.g., parietal cortex and M1). While many of these studies were conducted during rest, a handful of studies examined cortico-cortical interactions in the context of reach planning and execution. Dual-site TMS showed stimulation of the posterior parietal cortex facilitated M1 excitability at 50 ms and ~100 ms following an auditory "go" cue to initiate a prepared contralateral reach<sup>28</sup>. Additional methods have been established for dual coil TMS approaches that include applications during goal-directed reach-to-grasp behaviors<sup>29</sup>. The protocol described here complements these previous studies and methods and can be readily adapted for dual-site TMS studies as well.

The example task code consists of a delayed response task with two potential targets. Parameters such as trial numbers, target and cursor characteristics, visual feedback, and TMS delivery can be adjusted to address a variety of research questions. Data recorded with this approach include behavioral kinematics from the tablet and electrophysiological measurements from the EMG. Preliminary results revealed that TMS and behavioral measurements exhibit reliable timing and sufficient sensitivity to variability in reach directions across trials. These

methods and results stand as proof of concept for future investigations into the neural mechanisms of reaching *via* TMS using this approach.

## Disclosures

All authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest

## Acknowledgments

This research was made possible in part by the generous funding of the Knight Campus Undergraduate Scholars program and the Phil and Penny Knight Foundation



**Supplementary Figure 3.3** 

## **References Cited**

1. Georgopoulos, A. P., Kalaska, J. F., Caminiti, R., Massey, J. T. On the relations between the direction of two-dimensional arm movements and cell discharge in primate motor cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. **2** (11), 1527-1537 (1982).

2. Georgopoulous, A. P., Schwartz, A. B., Kettner, R. E. Neuronal population coding of movement direction. *Science*. **233** (4771), 1416-1419 (1986).

3. Kim, H. E., Morehead, J. R., Parvin, D. E., Moazzezi, R., Ivry, R. B. Invariant errors reveal limitations in motor correction rather than constraints on error sensitivity. *Communications Biology*. **1**, 19 (2018).

4. Huberdeau, D. M., Krakauer, J. W., Haith, A. M. Dual-process decomposition in human sensorimotor adaptation. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. **33**, 71-77 (2015).

5. Shadmehr, R., Smith, M. A., Krakauer, J. W. Error correction, sensory prediction, and adaptation in motor control. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*. **33** (1), 89-108 (2010).

6. Filimon, F., Nelson, J. D., Hagler, D. J., Sereno, M. I. Human cortical representations for reaching: Mirror neurons for execution, observation, and imagery. *NeuroImage*. **37** (4), 1315-1328 (2007).

7. Hammon, P. S., Makeig, S., Poizner, H., Todorov, E., de Sa, V. R. Predicting reaching targets from human EEG. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*. **25** (1), 69-77 (2008).

8. Busan, P. et al. Effect of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) on parietal and premotor cortex during planning of reaching movements. *PloS One.* **4** (2), e4621 (2009).

9. Busan, P. et al. Transcranial magnetic stimulation and preparation of visually-guided reaching movements. *Frontiers in Neuroengineering.* **5**, 18 (2012).

10. Lega, C. et al. The topography of visually guided grasping in the premotor cortex: a dense-transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) mapping study. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. **40** (35), 6790-6800 (2020).

11. Marigold, D. S., Lajoie, K., Heed, T. No effect of triple- pulse TMS medial to intraparietal sulcus on online correction for target perturbations during goal-directed hand and foot reaches. *PloS One.* **14** (10), e0223986 (2019).

12. Savoie, F.-A., Dallaire-Jean, L., Thenault, F., Whittingstall, K., Bernier, P.-M. Single-pulse TMS over the parietal cortex does not impair sensorimotor perturbation-induced changes in motor commands. *eNeuro*. **7** (2) (2020).

13. Taga, M. et al. Motor adaptation and internal model formation in a robot-mediated forcefield. *Psychoradiology*. **1** (2), 73-87 (2021).

14. Vesia, M. et al. Human dorsomedial parieto-motor circuit specifies grasp during the planning of goal-directed hand actions. *Cortex.* **92**, 175-186 (2017).

15. Bestmann, S., Krakauer, J. W. The uses and interpretations of the motor-evoked potential for understanding behaviour. *Experimental Brain Research.* **233** (3), 679-689 (2015).

16. Rossini, P. M. et al. Non-invasive electrical and magnetic stimulation of the brain, spinal cord, roots and peripheral nerves: Basic principles and procedures for routine clinical and research application. An updated report from an I.F.C.N. Committee. *Clinical Neurophysiology*. **126** (6), 1071-110 (2015).

17. Rothwell, J. C., Thompson, P. D., Boyd, S., Marsden, C. D. Stimulation of the human motor cortex through the scalp. *Experimental Physiology*. **76** (2), 159-200 (1991).

18. Bestmann, S., Duque, J. Transcranial magnetic stimulation: decomposing the processes underlying action preparation. *The Neuroscientist.* **22** (4), 392-405 (2016).

19. Kim, H. E., Avraham, G., Ivry, R. B. The psychology of reaching: action selection, movement implementation, and sensorimotor learning. *Annual Review of Psychology*. **72** (1), 61-95 (2021).

20. McDougle, S. D., Bond, K. M., Taylor, J. A. Explicit and implicit processes constitute the fast and slow processes of sensorimotor learning. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. **35** (26), 9568-9579 (2015).

21. McDougle, S. D., Bond, K. M., Taylor, J. A. Implications of plan-based generalization in sensorimotor adaptation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*. **118** (1), 383-393 (2017).

22. McDougle, S. D., Ivry, R. B., Taylor, J. A. Taking aim at the cognitive side of learning in sensorimotor adaptation tasks. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*. **20** (7), 535-544 (2016).

23. Morehead, J. R., Qasim, S. E., Crossley, M. J., Ivry, R. Savings upon re-aiming in visuomotor adaptation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. **35** (42), 14386-14396 (2015).

24. Taylor, J. A., Krakauer, J. W., Ivry, R. B. Explicit and implicit contributions to learning in a sensorimotor adaptation task. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. **34** (8), 3023-3032 (2014).

25. Tsay, J. S., Kim, H. E., Parvin, D. E., Stover, A. R., Ivry, R. B. Individual differences in proprioception predict the extent of implicit sensorimotor adaptation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*. **125** (4), 1307-1321 (2021).

26. Jackson, N., Greenhouse, I. VETA: An open-source matlab-based toolbox for the collection and analysis of electromyography combined with transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Frontiers in Neuroscience.* **13**, 975 (2019).

27. Goldsworthy, M. R., Hordacre, B., Ridding, M. C. Minimum number of trials required for within- and between-session reliability of TMS measures of corticospinal excitability. *Neuroscience.* **320**, 205-209 (2016).

28. Koch, G. et al. Functional interplay between posterior parietal and ipsilateral motor cortex revealed by twin- coil transcranial magnetic stimulation during reach planning toward contralateral space. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. **28** (23), 5944-5953 (2008).

29. Goldenkoff, E. R., Mashni, A., Michon, K. J., Lavis, H., Vesia, M. Measuring and manipulating functionally specific neural pathways in the human motor system with transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*. **156**, e60706 (2020).

## Bridge

The methods described in the previous chapter represent a flexible framework that can be used for further explorations into the relationships between corticospinal activity and reaching. The following chapter describes the first experimental application of said methods, and our first investigation into preparatory activity during 2-dimensional reaching. We probe the corticospinal (CS) pathway using transcranial magnetic stimulation during the preparation of reaches. We also test the potential influence of adaptation on the CS pathway. By doing so, we hoped to extend previous observations of preparatory inhibition to reaching behaviors, and to further explore the potential sources of this phenomenon.

#### CHAPTER IV

### INVESTIGATION OF PREPARATORY INHIBITION DURING REACHING

#### Introduction

Movement preparation and the underlying neural mechanisms involved have been widely studied using a variety of approaches. Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) has been a popular choice for non-invasively probing motor circuitry under particular task conditions. Several TMS studies have observed preparatory inhibition<sup>1-4</sup> during a delayed-response task. This phenomenon is thought to be involved in gain-modulation, suppressing the noise in the motor system so that the appropriate response can be selected and executed.

Most of this work has employed simple, ballistic finger or wrist movements due to the low degrees of freedom such movement allows, as well as the convenient location of the hand area in primary motor cortex (M1). While constraining responses to highly controlled movements has its advantages, it fails to capture the richness and complexity of natural human behavior. We argue that goal-directed reaching is an optimal - and novel - direction for TMS-related investigations into the mechanisms of action preparation.

Previous TMS studies involving simple manual behavior have examined CS excitability in the context of motor adaptation and learning. This work suggests that CS excitability increases following visuomotor adaptation for finger<sup>5,6</sup> and wrist movements<sup>7,8</sup>. Other studies have found an association between the degree of learning and increased CS excitability<sup>9-12</sup>. In addition, more complex movements, such as reaching, have also been employed to investigate the relationship between learning and CS excitability. For instance, Xivry et al.<sup>13</sup> found that MEPs increased in amplitude following a bout of an abrupt force-field perturbation but not a gradual one. Further studies suggest the learning process may affect CS correlates, such as the MEP and the CSP, in different ways. For example, Sarwary et al.<sup>12</sup> showed that changes in the MEP were associated with a fast adaptation process while changes in the CSP were associated with a slow learning process. While the evidence here is clear that motor adaptation is associated with greater CS excitability, these investigations involve muscles at rest, between or after bouts of learning. The association between motor adaptation and CS excitability in the preparatory state has not yet been established. Although, in general, these studies show an increase in CS excitability during and after adaptation, the question of whether CS excitability dynamically adjusts during the preparation of more complex movements in the context of gradual motor adaptive processes remains unanswered.

We assessed CS excitability during a two-dimensional reaching task in which participants acquired one of two targets in a virtual workspace. We also tested the influence of sensorimotor adaptation on corticospinal excitability by gradually introducing a perturbation of 20 degrees. While adaptation is known to play a role in motor learning and control, whether this implicit process influences the CS pathway during preparation is unknown. Our novel approach allows us to explore the relationships between learning processes and CS activity, potentially revealing electrophysiological markers of implicit motor learning.

Single-pulse TMS was administered to the left M1 on a trial-by-trial basis either during a resting inter-trial baseline or a preparatory delay period. MEP amplitudes were measured using EMG placed on the right FDI. We expected to observe preparatory inhibition, measured as a reduction in MEP amplitude from baseline to delay epochs. This would be consistent with previous work that studied finger and wrist movements, as well as extend the phenomenon of preparatory inhibition to include reaching behaviors.

Furthermore, we hypothesized motor adaptation during exposure to a visuomotor perturbation would be associated with less inhibitory influence from the cerebellum on M1 during, corresponding to greater MEP amplitude. This hypothesis is based on previous work that found reductions in cerebellar-brain inhibition (CBI) associated with implicit learning<sup>14-16</sup>. Because this cerebellar-mediated effect seems to influence the CS pathway generally over longer timescales, we expected both inter-trial baseline MEPs and delay period MEPs to be similarly modulated. Thus, we expected no difference between trial epochs, i.e. baseline and delay, but rather an overall increase in MEP amplitude during the blocks of the task in which behavioral adaptation was evident.

#### Methods

### **Participants**

A total of 16 (8 females, 8 males, mean age  $26 \pm 10$  yrs) completed testing. Participants were recruited from the University of Oregon through the Human Subjects Pool and online flyers through the Human Physiology department. A pre-screening process excluded individuals with contraindications to TMS and those who are not right-handed. Exclusion criteria included any history of neurological disorder, use of psychoactive medication, and recent drug use. All participants provided written informed consent before the start of testing. All procedures were approved by the University of Oregon, IRB.

## Electromyography & Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation

Surface EMG was measured from three muscles of the right arm: first dorsal interossei (FDI), extensor carpi radialis (ECR), anterior deltoid (AD). A ground electrode was placed on the epicondyle of the elbow, and an additional electrode was placed on the dorsal aspect of the neck to detect electrical artifacts for marking TMS pulse times. After the completion of EMG setup, a standard TMS hotspotting and thresholding procedure was performed. First, the coil was positioned approximately 2 cm anterior and 5 cm lateral to the vertex, over the hemisphere contralateral to the target muscle, and with the coil oriented approximately 45 degrees off the midline to induce a current in the posterior to anterior direction. Second, the TMS intensity was adjusted, and the coil repositioned in incremental adjustments of  $\sim 1$  cm until consistent MEPs were elicited from the target muscle. During this hotspotting procedure, TMS pulses were administered once every 4 s. Third, once the optimal coil position and orientation was determined, athletic tape was placed on the head to mark the location of the coil. Finally, the resting motor threshold (RMT) was determined as the intensity of TMS which elicits MEPs with amplitudes of at least 50 µV on 5 out of 10 attempts. During subsequent testing, TMS was administered at 115% RMT. 20 baseline MEP measurements were taken prior to the start of the task. EMG recording and the timed administration of TMS pulses were controlled by the VETA toolbox (Jackson & Greenhouse, 2019) in Matlab.

### Virtual Workspace

The virtual workspace (Fig 4.1) includes a home position (4cm-diam) in the bottomcenter, two circular targets (1cm-diam), and a cursor (0.5cm-diam) to represent the current position of the stylus. The two targets were presented 15cm in euclidean distance away from the center of the Home Position at -45 and +45 degrees off the midline. Only one target position was displayed per trial. Visual stimulus presentation of the targets and cursor were controlled by Psychoolbox 3.0 for Matlab 2018.

### Reaching Task

Each trial consisted of a resting phase, preparatory phase, and an out-and-back reaching phase (Fig 4.1). On each trial, participants had to maintain the cursor within the Home Position for a period of .5-1.5s (random, uniform distribution). Then, the outline of the forthcoming target would appear, representing the preparatory cue. After a delay of 900ms the target would fill-in, representing the imperative signal to initiate a reach. Participants were instructed to 'slice' through the target as quickly and accurately as possible. Once the euclidean distance of 15cm was surpassed, the target would disappear, prompting a return to Home Position. If the cursor did not travel the 15cm distance within the allotted time of 1sec, participants would receive a 'too slow' message to encourage high speed. Cursor feedback was altered, contingent on the task condition, across blocks.

The task consisted of four blocks for a total of 290 trials. The first was a Practice block of 20 trials to familiarize participants with the virtual work space and the desired reaching distance and speed. During this block, the cursor feedback was veridical and always visible to the participant. The Practice block was followed by Pre-Exposure, Exposure, Washout, and Post-Exposure blocks, respectively.

The Pre-Exposure block included 60 trials of out-and-back reaches with veridical feedback. Once the reach distance threshold was passed, the cursor disappeared and would not be visible to the participant until the cursor returned within 3 cm from the home position. In the Exposure block (90 trials), the cursor feedback displayed a gradual rotational shift (direction counterbalanced across participants) of 2 degrees per trial to a maximum of 20 degrees for the remainder of the block. This stepwise introduction was to prevent participant awareness of the

rotation. Aside from the rotation, the cursor visibility matched the Pre-Exposure block. In the Washout-No-Feedback block (60 trials), the cursor would disappear at the onset of the imperative signal, thus concealing visual feedback of the cursor during the reach phase for the entirety of the block. In the Washout-Feedback block (60 trials), the cursor returned and cursor position was veridical, matching the Pre-Exposure block.



**Figure 4.1** (A) Representation of the virtual workspace during a left-target trial. Home position (blue) was centered on the bottom of the screen. Visual targets (magenta) were fixed 45° off the midline to the left (shown here) and right, on a trial-by-trial basis. The cursor (white) provided live-feedback of the position of the stylus. (B) Progression of the task through four continuous blocks which differed only in the visual feedback of the cursor. Pre-Exposure and Washout-FB represented veridical positioning of the cursor, while Exposure introduced a 20° rotation of the cursor position and Washout-NoFB hid the cursor position during the out-and-back reach phase.



**Figure 4.2** Diagram of the timeline of TMS administration relative to the task. (A) Single-pulse TMS was delivered either at the onset of the preparatory cue (baseline TMS) or 100ms prior to the imperative cue (delay TMS). (B) TMS over left primary motor cortex elicited MEPs in the right FDI.

## Dependent Measures & Analysis

During the task, TMS was administered (Fig 4.2) either at the onset of the preparatory cue (baseline) or 100ms before the onset of the imperative cue (delay). The proportion of TMS measurements across trials within blocks was as follows: <sup>2</sup>/<sub>5</sub> baseline; <sup>2</sup>/<sub>5</sub> delay; <sup>1</sup>/<sub>5</sub> none. Trials without TMS were used to assess behavioral performance in the absence of TMS. Within each block, MEP amplitudes for each timepoint (baseline vs. delay) were directly compared to assess

whether preparatory inhibition was present, then compared across blocks to determine whether the preparatory state of the output motor pathway changed with task conditions, e.g. Exposure to a visuomotor rotation influences the degree of MEP modulation. MEPs that did not meet a threshold of .05mV were not included for analysis. The average number of MEPs measured from each participant were  $92 \pm 23$  at baseline and  $91 \pm 19$  at delay.

#### Results

## Reaching Accuracy

Reaching trajectories were analyzed on a trial-by-trial basis to calculate the euclidean distance between the center of the target and the end-point of the reach trajectory (target error), then converted into degrees for comparability. The average target error for the Pre-Exposure and Washout-Feedback blocks were  $0.45 \pm .8$  degrees and  $2.0 \pm 6$  degrees, respectively, indicating accurate acquisition of targets when visual feedback was veridical. Given the nature of the visual feedback in the Exposure and Washout-no-Feedback blocks, we grouped sequential trials into bins of two trials and report the average target error for each bin (*Fig 4.3*).

To confirm successful adaptation, we grouped trials within the Exposure block into bins of 5 trials each. A repeated measures ANOVA confirmed a significant effect across bins (F(1,18)= 5.2, p < .001), and no effect of the direction of rotation (positive or negative) (p = .5). As expected, target error increased sharply at the beginning of the Exposure block due to the onset of the 20 degree rotation. Adaptation can be observed as target error was reduced towards baseline as the Exposure block proceeded. A subsequent spike in error was brought on by the Washout-No-FB block, in which the rotation was removed and participants reached in the dark, without visual feedback of the stylus position. A return to baseline was then brought on by the Washout-FB block, in which participants regained visual feedback of the stylus position. This observed evolution of target error is consistent with previous work on visuomotor perturbations.



**Figure 4.3** Target error was measured as the absolute distance between the center of the target and the cursor position once the target distance threshold (15cm) was surpassed. Here we report target error in averaged bins of two consecutive trials for each block.

## EMG Reaction Time

Reaction time was calculated as the duration between the imperative cue and the EMG onset of the deltoid muscle. A one-way ANOVA revealed that TMS had a significant effect on Reaction Time (F(2,45) = 7.38, p = .002). Responses were slowest on trials without TMS ( $278 \pm 51$ ms), and faster on trials with baseline (t(15) = 5.07, p < .001) and delay (t(15) = 3.04, p = .008) TMS. Responses were faster (t(15) = 2.39, p = .03) when TMS was delivered at baseline ( $226 \pm 40$ ms) compared to delay ( $244 \pm 30$ ms), indicating an effect of TMS as well as the timing of administration (Fig. 4.4). Reaction times did not differ significantly across the experimental blocks (p = .3), indicating consistent behavior throughout the task.



**Figure 4.4** EMG Reaction Times as measured by the onset of the anterior Deltoid muscle relative to the imperative cue. Trials that included baseline TMS ( $226 \pm 40$ ms) were associated with the fastest responses, followed by trials with delay TMS ( $244 \pm 30$ ms), and then trials without TMS ( $278 \pm 51$ ms). \*All comparisons were significant (p < .05).

## FDI MEP Amplitude

MEP amplitudes were recorded from the task-relevant FDI muscle at two different epochs (baseline and delay) and averaged across experimental blocks (*Fig 4.5*). A repeated measures ANOVA revealed no effect of TMS epoch (F(1,15) = 1.9, p = .2) or Task Block (F(1,15) = .63, p = .6). Contrary to our predictions, our results do not support the presence of preparatory inhibition during reaching.

Baseline MEP amplitudes were stable across Pre-Exposure  $(1.0 \pm 0.76 \text{mV})$ , Exposure  $(.91 \pm .68 \text{mV})$ , Washout-No-Feedback  $(.95 \pm .84 \text{mV})$ , and Washout-Feedback  $(.95 \pm .72 \text{mV})$  blocks. This consistent baseline suggests there was no general shift in motor system excitability related to fatigue or time in task. Similarly, delay period MEP amplitudes did not change across Pre-Exposure  $(1.0 \pm .64 \text{mV})$ , Exposure  $(0.94 \pm .74 \text{mV})$ , Washout-No-Feedback  $(0.88 \pm .8 \text{mV})$ , and Washout-Feedback  $(0.87 \pm .72 \text{mV})$  blocks.


**Figure 4.5** Mean MEP amplitudes elicited at baseline and delay epochs are shown for Pre-Exposure  $(1.0 \pm 0.76 \text{mV}; 1.0 \pm .64 \text{mV})$ , Exposure  $(.91 \pm .68 \text{mV}; 0.94 \pm .74 \text{mV})$ , Washout-NoFB  $(.95 \pm .84 \text{mV}; 0.88 \pm .8 \text{mV})$  and Washout-FB  $(.95 \pm .72 \text{mV}; 0.87 \pm .72 \text{mV})$  blocks. No significant effect of TMS epoch (p = .2) or experimental block (p = .6) was observed.

### *Correlations*

MEP amplitudes scale with background EMG activity. To ensure the lack of differences between baseline and preparatory delay period MEP amplitudes was not simply explained by background EMG activity, we assessed pre-MEP EMG activity from the FDI in the 100ms window preceding TMS administration. We calculated the root mean square of the EMG activity preceding TMS administration and correlated this metric with MEP amplitude (Fig 4.6). Pre-TMS RMS was significantly correlated with baseline MEP amplitude (r = .65, p = .007) and delay MEP amplitude (r = .58, p = .02). When experimental blocks were analyzed separately, Exposure (baseline: r = .61, p = .01; delay: r = .64, p = .008), Washout-No-Feedback (baseline: r = .78, p < .01; delay: r = .71, p < .01), and Washout-Feedback (baseline: r = .58, p = .02; delay: r = .3, p = .2) blocks exhibited a relationship between Pre-TMS EMG activity and MEP amplitude, with larger MEP amplitudes associated with greater EMG activity. This relationship was not observed in the Pre-Exposure block (baseline: r = .31, p = .24; delay: r = .31, p = .25).



**Figure 4.6** Root mean square of the FDI muscle activity in the 100ms window prior to TMS delivery was positively correlated with the elicited MEP for both baseline (r = .65, p = .007) and delay (r = .58, p = .02) epochs.

While the association between Pre-TMS EMG and MEP amplitude is not surprising in and of itself, the fact that it coincides only with phases of the experiment that involved some level of adaptation is interesting. Perhaps the cerebellar activity during implicit learning modulates cortical activity in a way that strengthens the association between corticospinal excitability and surface-level EMG activity. Nonetheless, since both baseline and delay MEPs were correlated with background EMG activity to a similar extent, we do not suspect that this relationship impacted our MEP amplitude comparisons.

### Discussion

Our results did not support our predictions, as MEP amplitudes were similar across TMS epochs and experimental blocks. Specifically, we did not observe differences in MEP amplitudes between inter-trial rest and preparatory delay periods and did not observe an influence of exposure to visuomotor perturbation. These results fail to extend previous evidence of preparatory inhibition in finger and wrist movements to reaching behaviors. These studies have shown relatively consistent patterns of decreased MEP amplitudes<sup>1-4,17-21</sup> during response preparation relative to inter-trial baseline measurements. There are several possible reasons why preparatory inhibition may not have been observed in this experiment.

## Lack of Preparatory Inhibition during Delayed Reaching

Some argue that the observation of preparatory inhibition depends on task-related variables. Quoilin et al.<sup>22</sup> showed that MEP suppression in task-relevant effectors depended on the nature of task feedback. This is critical to the interpretation of our data since the nature of the feedback was the primary independent variable of interest. Notably, we did not observe preparatory inhibition during the exposure or no-exposure blocks of the task, suggesting the presence or absence of visual feedback is not a critical factor. Additionally, Quoilin et al.<sup>21</sup> found more reliable MEP suppression when the task involved a choice between two hands compared to when only one response was required. While our task involved a choice between two targets, the same agonists were responsible for both response options - albeit with variation. However, other work has shown that preparatory inhibition is present in the primary effector even when there is no choice involved in a task<sup>4</sup>. Additional experiments are needed to determine whether feedback-related or response selection-related elements of the experimental design might unveil preparatory inhibition.

Another possible explanation for the negative result is the complexity of the reaching movement. Perhaps the increased complexity, compared to finger abduction, introduces more noise into the motor system, and thus any modulation in the CS pathway is washed out by a general shift in excitability throughout the task. However, previous work examining the influence of complexity on preparatory inhibition showed greater preparatory inhibition was associated with the preparation of more complex manual responses<sup>4</sup> requiring coordination of multiple effectors. Nevertheless, increased noise associated with reaching might explain our high degree of variability in MEP amplitudes and a lack of any prevailing trend between the two TMS timepoints. Future analyses can account for this variability as a factor and evaluate whether individuals with decreased MEP amplitude variability also exhibit a pattern more consistent with preparatory inhibition.

## Corticospinal Excitability during Visuomotor Adaptation and Cerebellar Influence

Previous studies have examined the effect of visuomotor adaptation on corticospinal (CS) excitability. This literature has shown that CS excitability is enhanced following visuomotor adaptation involving finger movements<sup>5</sup> and wrist movements<sup>8</sup>. Similar investigations that involve motor learning without adaptation have also found an association between the degree of

learning and increased CS excitability<sup>9-12</sup>. Surprisingly, the facilitation in MEP size is even evident after mere observation of motor learning<sup>23</sup>.

The cerebellum is strongly implicated in mediating visuomotor adaptation<sup>24</sup> for reaching in particular<sup>25,26</sup>. Evidence suggests cerebellar-thalamocortical projections reduce M1 activity<sup>27,28</sup>. Conditioning pulses of TMS over the cerebellum reduce MEP amplitudes elicited from M1, a phenomenon referred to as cerebellar inhibition<sup>29</sup>. However, after adaptation in a reaching task, this cerebellar-mediated inhibition is reduced<sup>14,15</sup>. This effect has been shown in the primary agonist of a trained behavior as well as a task-irrelevant muscle<sup>16</sup>.

Here, consistent with previous findings described above, we predicted a release of preparatory inhibition and greater MEP amplitudes overall during the Exposure task block. Our results do not support this prediction, as MEPs of the Exposure block were similar to those of other blocks. While previous work has exhibited changes in CS excitability due to adaptation, in these studies TMS was delivered outside of the task context while participants were at rest, whereas the current study probed CS excitability inside the context of the task on a trial-by-trial basis.

Although we did observe behavioral evidence for adaptation, we did not observe an influence of perturbation exposure on CS excitability at baseline or during the preparatory delay periods of our task. This suggests online changes are too subtle to detect with MEPs or that MEP measurements taken during epochs of the task may have been too noisy to provide sufficient sensitivity to effects reported in previous studies.

## TMS Effects on Reach-related EMG Onsets

One surprising result was the effect of TMS on EMG reaction time. While the effects of delay TMS have been shown to hasten forthcoming responses<sup>4,30</sup>, here we showed that TMS administered at baseline, in addition to delay, significantly increased response speed. Given the temporal distance between the delivery of baseline TMS and the onset of the deltoid muscle, this effect is surprising. Since trials without TMS and trials with TMS are otherwise identical, it is unlikely to be caused by anticipation of the relatively fixed task events.

One possible explanation for this effect is that baseline TMS somehow oriented participants to the behavioral task. For example, TMS may have heightened participant sensitivity to their arm position or primed them for a visual stimulus. Another possible

explanation is that TMS at baseline removed ambiguity about whether or not a TMS pulse would arrive later in the trial. Once TMS was delivered on a trial, there was no possibility of additional stimulation until the subsequent trial. Increased certainty that there were no immediately forthcoming TMS pulses may have freed up additional attentional resources to devote to the reaching task.

### Limitations

Some limitations complicate the interpretation of the current data. These include the relatively small sample size which may have limited power for specific analyses. Our estimated sample size was based on previous investigations of preparatory inhibition. However, we did not account for the potential influence of certain task differences that may have increased noise in our MEP measures relative to previous studies. Additionally, while we observed robust statistical effects for our EMG onset measures, we may not have had sufficient sensitivity to detect more subtle MEP effects, and this may have been particularly true across behavioral task blocks.

Future studies may include larger samples. It is also possible that an extended Exposure block would have induced stronger or more complete adaptation in our sample. A stronger behavioral effect of adaptation may be more likely to reveal changes in CS excitability. Finally, we only measured MEPs in task-relevant muscles in the reaching arm. Preparatory inhibition has been shown to extend to task-irrelevant muscles, and whether muscles outside the responding limb exhibit modulation in excitability during response preparation is an important lingering question.

## Conclusion

Overall, our results did not support the presence of preparatory inhibition during reaching behaviors in the presence or absence of a visual perturbation. The lack of preparatory inhibition may be the consequence of task elements such as the nature of feedback used or the muscles from which MEPs were measured. Whether reaching is prepared differently than simple finger or wrist movements, as commonly investigated in previous studies, is questionable, however, and further studies comparing the two task paradigms are needed. Furthermore, while our results regarding the effects of visuomotor adaptation on action preparation are not supportive of our hypothesis, this novel paradigm may still prove useful in exploring the relationship between CS

excitability and preparatory activity during reaching. This paradigm may have special utility in clinical populations, including individuals with cerebellar related dysfunction.

## **References Cited**

1. Davranche K, Tandonnet C, Burle B, Meynier C, Vidal F, Hasbroucq T. The dual nature of time preparation: neural activation and suppression revealed by transcranial magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex. European Journal of Neuroscience 25: 3766–3774, 2007.

2. Duque J, Ivry RB. Role of corticospinal suppression during motor preparation. *Cereb Cortex* 19: 2013–2024, 2009.

3. Duque J, Lew D, Mazzocchio R, Olivier E, Ivry RB. Evidence for two concurrent inhibitory mechanisms during response preparation. *J Neurosci* 30: 3793–3802, 2010.

4. Greenhouse I, Sias A, Labruna L, Ivry RB. Nonspecific inhibition of the motor system during response preparation. *J Neurosci* 35: 10675–10684, 2015.

5. Bagce HF, Saleh S, Adamovich SV, Tunik E. Visuomotor gain distortion alters online motor performance and enhances primary motor cortex excitability in patients with stroke. *Neuromodulation* 15(4): 361-366. 2012.

6. Kadota H, Hirashima M, Nozaki D. Functional modulation of corticospinal excitability with adaptation of wrist movements to novel dynamical environments. *J* Neurosci 34(37): 12415-12424, 2014.

7. Classen J, Liepert J, Wise SP, Hallett M, Cohen LG. Rapid plasticity of human cortical movement representation induced by practice. *Journal of Nuerophysiology* 79(2): 1117-1123, 1998.

8. Quinn L, Milijevic A, Rurak BK, Marinovic W, Vallence A. Differential plasticity of extensor and flexor motor cortex representations following visuomotor adaptation. *Experimental Brain Research* 236(2945-2957, 2018.

9. Koaneke S, Lutz K, Heriwig U. Ziemann U. Jancke L. Extensive training of elementary finger tapping movements changes the pattern of motor cortex excitability. *Experimental Brain Research* 174: 199-209, 2006.

10. Gallasch E. et al. Changes in motor cortex excitability following training of a novel goaldirected motor task. *European Journal of Applied* Physiology 105: 47-54, 2009.

11. Cirillo J, Todd G, Semmler JG. Corticomotor excitability and plasticity following complex visuomotor training in young and old adults. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 34(11): 1847-1856, 2011.

12. Sarwary AME et al. Corticospinal correlates of fast and slow adaptive processes in motor learning. *Journal of Neurophysiology* doi.org/10.1152/jn.00488.2018, 2018.

13. Xivry JJO, Ahmadi-Pajouh MA. Changes in corticospinal excitability during reach adaptation in force fields. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 109(1): 124-136, 2013

14. Jayaram G, Galea JM, Bastian AJ, Celnik P. Human locomotor adaptive learning is proportional to depression of cerebellar excitability, *Cerebral Cortex* 21(8): 1901-1909, 2011.

15. Schlerf JE et al. Dynamic Modulation of Cerebellar excitability for abrupt, but not gradual, visuomotor adaptation. *Journal of Neuroscience* 32(34): 11610-11617, 2012.

16. Spampinato DA, Hannah JB, & Celnik PA. Cerebellar-M1 connectivity changes associated with motor learning are somatotopic specific. *Journal of Neuroscience* 37(9): 2377-2386, 2017.

17. Labruna L, Tischler C, Cazares C, Greenhouse I, Duque J, Lebon F, Ivry RB. Planning face, hand, and leg movements: anatomical constraints on preparatory inhibition. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 121(5): 1609-1620, 2019.

18. Lebon F, Ruffino C, Greenhouse I, Labruna L, Ivry RB, Papaxanthis C. The neural specificity of movement preparation during actual and imagined movements. *Cerebral Cortex* 29(2): 689-700, 2019.

19. Vassiliadis P. Grandjean J. Derosiere G. de Wilde Y. Quemener L. Duque J. Using a doublecoil TMS protocol to assess preparatory inhibition bilaterally. *Frontiers Neuroscience* 12 doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00139, 2018.

20. Hannah R, Cavanagh SE, Tremblay S, Simeoni S, Rothwell JC. Selective suppression of local interneuron circuits in human motor cortex contributes to movement preparation. *J Neurosci* 38(5): 1264-1276, 2018

21. Quoilin C, Fievez F, Duque J. Preparatory inhibition: impact of choice in reaction time tasks. *Neuropsychologia* 129: 221-222, 2019.

22. Quoilin C, Lambert J, Benvenuto J, Klein PA, Duque J. Comparison of motor inhibition in variants of the instructed-delay choice reaction time task. *PLoS One* doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161964, 2016.

23. McGregor HR, Vesia M, Rinchon C. Chen R. Gribble PL. Changes in corticospinal excitability associated with motor learning by observing. *Experimental Brain Research* 236: 2829-2838, 2018.

24. Tzvi E, Loens S, Donchin O. Mini-review: the role of the cerebellum in visuomotor adaptation, *The Cerebellum* 21: 306-313, 2022.

25. Tseng YW et al. Sensory prediction errors drive cerebellum-dependent adaptation of reaching, *Journal of Neurophysiology* doi.org/10.1152/jn.00266.2007, 2007.

26. Rabe K et al. Adaptation to visuomotor rotation and force field perturbation is correlated to different brain areas in patients with cerebellar degeneration. *Journal of Neurophysiology* doi.org/10.1152/jn.91069, 2009.

27. Hoover JE, Strick PL. The organization of cerebellar and basal ganglia outputs to primary motor cortex as revealed by retrograde transneuronal transport of herpes simplex virus type1. *Journal of Neuroscience* 19(21), 1999.

28. Dum RP & Strick PL, An unfolded map of the cerebellar dentate nucleus and its projections to the cerebral cortex, *Journal of Neurophysiology* 89(1): 634-639, 2003.

29. Werhahn KJ. Taylor J. Ridding M. Meyer BU. Rothwell JC. Effect of transcranial magnetic stimulation over the cerebellum on the excitability of human motor cortex, *Electroencophalography and Clinical Neurophysiology* 101(1): 58-66, 1996.

30. Duque J, Labruna L, Cazares C, Ivry RB. Dissociating the influence of response selection and task anticipation on corticospinal suppression during response preparation. *Neuropsychologia* 65: 287-296, 2014.

## Bridge

Results from the experiment in the current chapter indicate a lack of inhibition preceding reaching movements. In addition, we found no effect of motor adaptation on corticospinal activity during preparation. Given the presumed involvement of cerebellar-M1 projections, these findings are surprising. Whether reaching involves a separate preparatory mechanism than that of button-pressing using fingers, however, remains doubtful. Nonetheless, a more direct comparison between the two movement types is motivated. In the following chapter, we investigate corticospinal activity during a delayed response task involving a choice between a forward reach and a button press. This follow-up study simplifies the behavioral task to a single reaching target, but adds a choice between a reach and a button press using the index finger to more directly compare the two behavioral contexts.

### CHAPTER V

### EFFECT OF MOVEMENT TYPE ON CORTICOSPINAL EXCITABILITY

### Introduction

Corticospinal excitability (CS) during action preparation has been the focus of many electrophysiological studies. Preparatory inhibition has emerged as a phenomenon of the motor system, although its exact role is still in question<sup>1-4</sup>. The vast majority of these studies employed single-joint finger, wrist, or ankle movements to probe the CS tract under controlled conditions. Whether preparatory inhibition extends to more complex behaviors is yet unknown.

We investigated the effects of response type on CS excitability by combining the buttonpress task, traditionally used in the TMS literature, with a forward reaching task. Previous work comparing preparatory inhibition across movements types showed that preparation of more complex actions involving multiple effectors<sup>4</sup> was associated with stronger preparatory inhibition. However, this study only involved finger movements and did not address actions engaging arm and hand muscles together. Our paradigm allows for a direct comparison between those two movement types in one sitting. The chosen button press response engages the joints of the index and thumb, whereas the reach response engages shoulder, elbow, wrist, and finger joints. Whether the total degrees of freedom about these joints for the two types of responses differently modulates preparatory CS excitability is an interesting and important question and may help to determine the functional significance of preparatory activity adjustments. Specifically, equivalent levels of modulation across the two tasks would suggest a uniform process for preparing forthcoming actions. Alternatively, greater modulation in one context than the other could point to greater modulation of CS excitability for specific movements involving a different number of joints.

We also tested whether task-relevance of the targeted muscle played a role in CS modulation. Many previous TMS studies have revealed reliable evidence of transient inhibition during the preparation of simple, ballistic movements. Importantly, this phenomenon has been observed in both task-relevant and task-irrelevant muscles<sup>2,4</sup>. While these findings seem to support a widespread preparatory mechanism, we have yet to replicate these results in reaching behaviors. Thus, the inclusion of task-relevancy as a factor in this study may help to reveal the selectivity of any observed preparatory modulation.

We conducted a two-part experiment in one sitting in order to investigate the presence of preparatory inhibition during reaching and the degree to which task-relevance is a factor. We employed a delayed-response task that involved a choice between reaching and button-press with the right hand. In Part 1, TMS was administered to the left primary motor cortex (M1) to elicit MEPs in the right FDI (Task-Relevant). In Part 2, TMS was administered to the right M1 to elicit MEPs in the left FDI (Task-Irrelevant). The task was performed with the right hand on both occasions, and the order was counterbalanced across participants.

We expected to observe preparatory inhibition in the targeted FDI for both button presses and reaching movements, seen as a reduction in MEP amplitude from baseline to delay. This would be in line with previous findings using button-press tasks, while expanding our understanding of preparatory mechanisms to include reaching behavior. This would suggest that complex and simple movements share a similar preparatory process, thereby supporting the idea that inhibition is global and widespread.

With regards to task-relevance, we expected to observe stronger inhibition in the taskrelevant condition and weaker inhibition in the task-irrelevant condition. This would support the hypothesis of the spotlight model of preparatory inhibition, in which modulation is focused upon the responding agonist and wanes somatotopically.

## Methods

## **Participants**

A total of 17 participants (9 female, 8 male,  $23 \pm 3$  y.o.) completed testing. Participants were recruited from the University of Oregon Human Subjects Pool and via online flyers. A prescreening process excluded individuals with contraindications to TMS and those who are not right-handed. Exclusion criteria included any history of neurological disorder, use of psychoactive medication, and recent drug use. All participants provided written informed consent before the start of testing. All procedures were approved by the University of Oregon, IRB.

## Electromyography & Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation

Surface EMG was measured from three muscles of the responding right arm – first dorsal interossei (FDI), extensor carpi radialis (ECR), anterior deltoid (AD) - and two muscles of the resting left arm – FDI and ECR. A ground electrode was placed on the epicondyle of the right elbow, and an additional electrode was placed on the dorsal aspect of the neck to detect electrical artifacts for marking TMS pulse times. After the completion of EMG setup, a standard TMS hotspotting and thresholding procedure was performed. First, the coil was positioned approximately 2 cm anterior and 5 cm lateral to the vertex, over the hemisphere contralateral to the target muscle, and with the coil oriented approximately 45 degrees off the midline to induce a current in the posterior to anterior direction. Second, the TMS intensity was adjusted, and the coil repositioned in incremental adjustments of ~1 cm until consistent MEPs were elicited from the target muscle. During this hotspotting procedure, TMS pulses were administered once every 4 s. Third, once the optimal coil position and orientation was determined, athletic tape was placed on the head to mark the location of the coil. Finally, the resting motor threshold (RMT) was determined as the intensity of TMS which elicits MEPs with amplitudes of at least 50 µV on 5 out of 10 attempts. During subsequent testing, TMS was administered at 115% RMT. The hotspotting procedure was performed on each hemisphere to determine the hotspot and RMT of both left and right FDI target muscles. EMG recording and the timed administration of TMS pulses were controlled by the VETA toolbox<sup>5</sup> in Matlab.

#### Virtual Workspace

The virtual workspace (Fig 5.1) included a home position (4cm) in the bottom-center, and a cursor (0.5cm) to represent the current position of the stylus. Visual cues and targets were presented in the center of the screen, 15cm straight ahead from home position. Visual stimulus presentation of the targets and cursor were controlled by Psychtoolbox 3.0 for Matlab 2018.

## Button & Reach Choice Task

Participants used the right hand with a fisted-grip to manipulate a custom stylus that interfaced with the tablet workspace. Upon navigating to the Home position, a resting period of .5 to 1.5 seconds began. Next, one of two preparatory cues informed the participant of the forthcoming response, either a button press or a forward reach. Following a delay period of 0.9

seconds, the preparatory cue flashed with color, indicating the imperative cue, or 'Go' signal to execute either a button-press or a forward reach (Fig 5.1).



**Figure 5.1** Representation of the virtual workspace for button trials (top) and reach trials (bottom). Home position (blue) was centered on the bottom of the screen. Visual cues (magenta) were presented as a square to elicit button-press responses and a circle to elicit out-and-back reaches. The cursor (white) provided live feedback of the position of the stylus.

On Button-press trials, participants depressed a mechanical button on the stylus by abducting the index finger while maintaining the cursor within the home position. On Reach trials, the imperative cue acted as a positional target for out-and-back reaches. Participants were instructed to slice-through the target with speed and accuracy before returning to the home position. A total of 120 trials were completed, including an equal number of Buttonpress and Reach trials.

## Dependent Measures & Analysis

During the task, TMS was administered (Fig 5.2) either at the onset of the preparatory cue (baseline) or 100ms before the onset of the imperative cue (delay). The proportion of TMS measurements across the experiment were  $\frac{2}{5}$  baseline;  $\frac{2}{5}$  delay;  $\frac{1}{5}$  none. Trials without TMS were used to assess behavioral performance in the absence of TMS. Within each block, MEP amplitudes for each timepoint (baseline vs. delay) were directly compared to assess whether preparatory inhibition was present, then compared across blocks to determine whether the

preparatory state of the output motor pathway changed with movement type and taskrelevancy. MEPs that did not meet a threshold of .05mV were not included for analysis. Average number of MEPs measured from each participant were  $85 \pm 11$  for the Task-Relevant block and  $88 \pm 8$  for the Task-Irrelevant block.



**Figure 5.2** Diagram of the timeline of TMS administration relative to task. (A) Single-pulse TMS was administered either at the onset of the preparatory cue (baseline TMS) or 100ms prior to the imperative cue (delay TMS). (B) In part one, TMS was administered to the left M1 to elicit MEPs in the right FDI (task-relevant). In part two, TMS was administered to the right M1 to elicit MEPs in the left FDI (task-irrelevant).

#### Results

## Reach Accuracy

Mean reach error was similar between Task-Relevant TMS  $(1.1 \pm 1.6 \text{ degrees})$  and Task-Irrelevant TMS  $(0.8 \pm 3.69 \text{ degrees})$  blocks, indicating a relatively accurate performance throughout the experiment. Overall, participants completed the appropriate response choice (button vs. reach) on 95% of trials, indicating high levels of focus throughout the task.

## EMG Reaction Time

Overall EMG Reaction Times (Fig 5.3A) were measured from the right FDI (262 ± 56ms), right ECR (232 ± 77ms), and right AD (250 ± 49ms). Since the task involved differential involvement of the three muscles monitored, we analyzed button trials and reach trials separately for each muscle (Fig 5.3B). EMG RT measured from the right FDI during Button trials was 261 ± 80ms, slightly slower than that of the right AD(250 ± 48ms) during Reach Trials, although this difference was not significant (p = .49). In the Task-Irrelevant block, reaction times were similar for the right FDI (238 ± 61ms; p = .6), right ECR (264 ± 35ms; p = .3), and right AD (226 ± 34ms; p = .08).



**Figure 5.3** EMG Reaction Time was measured as the duration between the imperative cue and the onset of muscle activity. (A) Overall EMG RTs were similar in the task-relevant block for the FDI (262ms), ECR (232ms), and AD (250ms), as well as in the task-irrelevant block (238ms; 264ms; 226ms, respectively). (B) When muscles responses times were parsed out by Button and Reach trials, the overall trend was maintained.

We then analyzed response times in relation to TMS administration (Fig 5.4). An ANOVA revealed an effect of TMS (F(1,16) = 3.5, p = .04) for the right FDI, as trials with no TMS ( $300 \pm 53$ ms) were slower than trials with baseline TMS ( $247 \pm 54$ ms; p < .01) and delay TMS ( $259 \pm 70$ ms; p = .02). This effect was also seen in the right AD (F(1,16) = 3.0, p = .05, as trials with no TMS ( $279 \pm 55$ ms) were slower than trials with baseline TMS ( $234 \pm 59$ ms; p <.01) and delay TMS ( $247 \pm 52$ ms; p < .01). This observed increase in speed with TMS trials was not seen in the ECR muscle. Perhaps the relative use of each muscle in relation to the task made the FDI (the primary mover during button-press) and deltoid (the primary mover during reach) particularly sensitive to the effects of TMS

In the Task-Irrelevant block (Fig 5.4), the effect of TMS timing on EMG RT was absent for the right FDI (p = .4) and the right ECR (p = .7), but present for the right AD (F(1,16) = 5.4, p < .01). The trend observed here was similar to that in the Task-Relevant block, as trials with no TMS ( $261 \pm 52$ ms) were slower than trials with baseline TMS ( $217 \pm 29$ ms; p < .01) and delay TMS ( $220 \pm 47$ ms; p < .01). In this case, TMS delivered to the left hand was associated with faster responses only in the contralateral deltoid.

## FDI MEP Amplitudes

MEPs were elicited from the right FDI in the Task-Relevant block and the left FDI in the Task-Irrelevant block, while the task was performed with the dominant right hand on both occasions. A repeated measures ANOVA was performed to test whether MEP amplitudes differed by TMS epoch (baseline vs. delay), Response type (button-press vs. reach) and Target hand (Task-Relevant vs. Task-Irrelevant). The analysis revealed no significant effects of TMS epoch (F(1,16) = .77, p = .4), Response type (F(1,16) = .29, p = .6), or Task-Relevance (F(1,16) = .52, p = .6). These results suggest an absence of preparatory modulation in both traditional button-press and the novel reaching paradigm whether the Task-Relevant (right) FDI or Task-Irrelevant (left) FDI was the target of TMS.

Overall MEP amplitudes (Fig 5.5) elicited in the right hand at baseline  $(1.2 \pm .9 \text{mV})$  were similar to those elicited during the delay epoch  $(1.1 \pm .7 \text{mV})$ . The Task-Irrelevant block also yielded similar MEP amplitudes measured at baseline  $(0.9 \pm 1 \text{mv})$  and delay  $(1.0 \pm 1 \text{mv})$ . Given

the dual nature of the task, we analyzed MEPs from each response type separately (Fig 5.5), however, similar amplitudes were found at each TMS epoch for both Button (baseline:  $1.2 \pm 1.1 \text{mV}$ ; delay:  $1.1 \pm .7 \text{mV}$ ) and Reach (baseline:  $1.2 \pm .9 \text{mV}$ ; delay:  $1.2 \pm .8 \text{mV}$ ). Task-Irrelevant MEPs were also similar for Button (baseline:  $1.0 \pm 1 \text{mV}$ ; delay:  $0.9 \pm 1 \text{mV}$ ) and Reach (baseline:  $1.0 \pm 1 \text{mV}$ ; delay:  $0.9 \pm 1 \text{mV}$ ) and Reach (baseline:  $1.0 \pm 1 \text{mV}$ ; delay:  $0.9 \pm 1 \text{mV}$ ) and Reach (baseline:  $1.0 \pm 1 \text{mV}$ ; delay:  $0.9 \pm 1 \text{mV}$ ) and Reach (baseline:  $1.0 \pm 1 \text{mV}$ ; delay:  $1.0 \pm 1 \text{mV}$ ) trials.



**Figure 5.4** EMG Reaction Times with regards to response type and TMS administration. In the Task-Relevant block, a significant effect of TMS was observed in the FDI-button trials (F(1,16) = 3.5, p = .04) and AD-Reach trials (F(1,16) = 3.0, p = .06) but not ECR trials. In the Task-Irrelevant block, a similar effect was observed but only in the AD-reach trials (F(1,16) = 5.4, p < .01).



**Figure 5.5** Mean MEP amplitudes elicited at baseline and delay in the right FDI (Task-Relevant) and the left FDI (Task-Irrelevant). A repeated measures ANOVA revealed no significant effects of TMS epoch (p = .4), response types (p = .6), or task-relevance (p = .6).

## Pre-TMS EMG Activity

One potential explanation for the presence or absence of MEP modulation is pre-TMS EMG activity, measured as the root mean square of the 100ms window prior to TMS delivery. One would expect a higher pre-TMS EMG activity to induce a greater MEP amplitude by priming the corticospinal tract. When considering the Task-Relevant block, correlations between pre-TMS EMG activity and MEP amplitude were not observed in either right FDI (baseline, p=.5; delay, p=.3). The same was true for the Task-Irrelevant block, with no meaningful relationships observed in the left FDI (p's = .8).

#### Discussion

In this experiment, we set out to assess differences in preparatory inhibition between delayed reaching arm movements and finger button presses. MEPs were measured in task-relevant and task-irrelevant muscles during the preparatory delay period and compared with a resting inter-trial baseline. Our results did not support the presence of preparatory inhibition in either a button-press or a reaching response, whether MEPs were elicited from the task-relevant or -irrelevant FDI. These findings are at odds with previous studies that have utilized similar delayed response paradigms. However, several features of our experiment may explain why no MEP modulation was detected. We did observe an influence of TMS on reaction time, but only in specific muscles and specific task conditions. These findings extend our previous results with a similar task.

## Lack of Preparatory Inhibition in Button Pressing

Given previous work, the null result for the button-press condition is puzzling. As mentioned, several TMS studies have observed preparatory inhibition in the FDI muscle prior to movement<sup>1-4,6-9</sup>, although these studies do not involve a reaching response option. The inclusion of a reaching option may change the nature of the task such that preparatory inhibition is no longer detectable. While button and reach trials were analyzed separately, they were interspersed throughout the task, and thus the overall preparatory state may be different when compared to a paradigm that includes simple button-pressing only.

The effect of small variations in task design on preparatory inhibition has been explored. Quoilin et al.<sup>10</sup> measured MEP amplitudes in three different task variants. One involved abducting the finger 'in the air' without visual or tactile feedback, another involved abducting the finger 'in the air' with visual feedback of performance, and a third involved physical interaction with a keyboard. MEP suppression was found in all three variants, but to a considerably less degree in the keyboard variant, suggesting a dis-inhibitory effect of tactile feedback. Perhaps, in the current study, the tactile manipulation of the stylus elicited a similar dis-inhibitory effect.

Others have shown that MEP suppression is stronger when the task involves a choice between response hands<sup>11</sup>. While our proposed task involves a response choice (reach vs. button press), the choice concerns different effectors of one limb as opposed to homologous effectors on

both hands. This may have influenced our results in unexpected ways. In contrast, others have found evidence of preparatory inhibition during a delayed-response task, whether a choice was involved or not<sup>4</sup>. One key difference between the two previous studies, however, is in the feedback received. The former included visual feedback of performance while the latter did not, pointing to a potential effect of feedback on the intensity and range of MEP modulation.

Further, the added complexity of the reaching response in the present study may have washed out any observable modulation that was present. While previous evidence of preparatory inhibition has mostly involved finger abduction tasks, the current study involves a multi-joint movement of the limb. Additionally, in contrast to ballistic finger abductions in a general direction, the current task requires precise target acquisition. These two factors, contributing to the relative complexity of the task, may explain why no evidence of preparatory inhibition was observed. Prior work on CS excitability suggests that increasing task difficulty and complexity effects CS activity<sup>12-14</sup>. Alternatively, switching between two different types of responses in the same arm may influence CS excitability in unexpected ways. Given the complexity of our paradigm, we argue that any preparatory modulation measurable by TMS, if present, may have been overshadowed.

## TMS Effects on EMG Onset Times

One surprising result was the effect of TMS on Reaction time. While TMS has been shown to hasten reaction time in a delayed-response task<sup>3,4,6</sup>, we observed an additional effect of TMS administered at baseline. That is, TMS delivered at the onset of the preparatory cue was associated with a faster button-press in the targeted FDI (247ms) as well as a faster reach in the deltoid (249ms) when compared to trials without TMS (300ms). What's more, the effect was also present in the Task-Irrelevant block, but only in the deltoid.

There are several possible explanations for this pattern of results. The use of an anticipatory strategy, in which participants used the relatively unchanging interval between TMS administration and the imperative cue, may explain this finding. However, it is unlikely given the otherwise similar parameters in trials without TMS.

Alternatively, baseline TMS may have acted as an orienting signal, increasing participants' sensitivity to their arm position. Another potential explanation is that baseline TMS primed the corticospinal tract in a similar manner as delay TMS, thus facilitating forthcoming

activation of that pathway. Lastly, it is possible that baseline TMS eliminated any uncertainty regarding the subsequent administration of TMS closer to movement onset. After TMS was administered, participants knew that another pulse would not arrive, and thus could focus on the visual stimuli free of any distractions.

## Limitations

A relatively small sample size may have limited our statistical power for certain analyses. Our estimated sample size was based on previous studies of preparatory inhibition; however, we did not account for potential task-related differences. While our task paradigm was novel, it shared considerable overlap with previous studies, and thus we accounted for a similar sample size.

Another limitation may lie in our mixed-response task design, in which button-press responses were interspersed with reach responses. A blocked design separating the two response types may have revealed a pattern of preparatory inhibition that unfolds over repeated trials. Perhaps switching between two responses on a trial-by-trial basis refreshes the CS pathway in a way that obscures a prevailing trend.

Future studies should include larger samples. To avoid potential effects of tactile feedback, future studies may include a 'reach in the air' task variant to match previous work. Lastly, we only measured MEPs in the FDI muscle. While the FDI served as a primary agonist for button-press trials, we did not have a direct comparison for reach trials, as no MEPs were measured from the deltoid. Future studies may target the deltoid directly for MEP measurements during reaching.

## Conclusion

The results of the current study suggest that preparatory inhibition is either absent or washed-out during a delayed-response task involving a choice between a button-press and a forward reach. The lack of observable inhibition may have been the result of task-design elements, such as visual or tactile feedback, or the muscles from which MEPs were recorded. Whether action preparation is fundamentally different for reaching compared to simple finger or wrist movements is questionable, and further studies comparing the two task paradigms are needed. While our results fail to replicate previous observations of preparatory inhibition, this

innovative approach holds potential for further investigations into the connection between CS excitability and preparatory activity in reaching behaviors. This approach could be particularly valuable in clinical populations, including individuals with cerebellar-related dysfunction.

## **References Cited**

1. Davranche K, Tandonnet C, Burle B, Meynier C, Vidal F, Hasbroucq T. The dual nature of time preparation: neural activation and suppression revealed by transcranial magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex. European Journal of Neuroscience 25: 3766–3774, 2007.

2. Duque J, Ivry RB. Role of corticospinal suppression during motor preparation. *Cereb Cortex* 19: 2013–2024, 2009.

3. Duque J, Lew D, Mazzocchio R, Olivier E, Ivry RB. Evidence for two concurrent inhibitory mechanisms during response preparation. *J Neurosci* 30: 3793–3802, 2010.

4. Greenhouse I, Sias A, Labruna L, Ivry RB. Nonspecific inhibition of the motor system during response preparation. *J Neurosci* 35: 10675–10684, 2015.

5. Jackson & Greenhouse, VETA: an open-source matlab-based toolbox for the collection and analysis of electromyography combined with transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 13, 2019

6. Labruna L, Tischler C, Cazares C, Greenhouse I, Duque J, Lebon F, Ivry RB. Planning face, hand, and leg movements: anatomical constraints on preparatory inhibition. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 121(5): 1609-1620, 2019.

7. Lebon F, Ruffino C, Greenhouse I, Labruna L, Ivry RB, Papaxanthis C. The neural specificity of movement preparation during actual and imagined movements. *Cerebral Cortex* 29(2): 689-700, 2019.

8. Vassiliadis P. Grandjean J. Derosiere G. de Wilde Y. Quemener L. Duque J. Using a doublecoil TMS protocol to assess preparatory inhibition bilaterally. *Frontiers Neuroscience* 12 doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00139, 2018.

9. Hannah R, Cavanagh SE, Tremblay S, Simeoni S, Rothwell JC. Selective suppression of local interneuron circuits in human motor cortex contributes to movement preparation. *J Neurosci* 38(5): 1264-1276, 2018.

10. Quoilin C, Lambert J, Benvenuto J, Klein PA, Duque J. Comparison of motor inhibition in variants of the instructed-delay choice reaction time task. *PLoS One* doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161964, 2016.

11. Quoilin C, Fievez F, Duque J. Preparatory inhibition: impact of choice in reaction time tasks. *Neuropsychologia* 129: 221-222, 2019.

12. Flament D, Goldsmith P, Buckley CJ, Lemon RN. Task dependence of responses in first dorsal interosseous muscle to magnetic brain stimulation in man, *Journal of Neurophysiology* 464(1): 361-378, 1993.

13. Abbruzzese G, Trompetto C, Schieppati M. The excitability of the human motor cortex increases during execution and mental imagination of sequential but not repetitive finger movemens, *Experimental Brain Research* 111: 465-472, 1996.

14. Watanabe H et al. Actual and imaginary motor tasks of varied difficulty. *Neuroscience* 391: 81-90, 2018.

# CHAPTER VI CONCLUSION

Planning and executing appropriate and desired actions is vital to living a healthy life. From the mundane activities of daily living to the ever-reaching boundaries of human performance, goal-directed behavior is pertinent to human flourishing. Consequently, motor deficits and psychological disorders that prevent or alter the manifestation of desired behavior can be debilitating for individuals. Because of this, goal-directed behavior remains an area of considerable interest to neurophysiology and motor psychology.

The neural mechanisms involved in motor behavior are complex and elusive, however, many methods have been developed in animals and humans to better understand these mechanisms. For example, investigations using direct neural recordings in non-human primates have revealed that individual cortical neurons are specifically tuned for direction, speed and extent of reaching movements<sup>1,2</sup>. Interestingly, this finding extends to neural activity that precedes movement<sup>3</sup>. Contrary to what one might expect, this neural preparatory activity is not simply a subthreshold version of movement-related activity, but rather a separate process predictive of the forthcoming response<sup>4,5</sup>. The intrigue of neural activity that is predictive of the parameters of movement, has drawn further investigations into the mechanisms of action preparation and its role in goal-directed behavior.

Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) has been used to explore preparatory activity and its role in behavior. TMS offers a non-invasive method of probing the corticospinal (CS) pathway at precise timepoints relative to action. A relatively consistent finding from TMS studies in humans is the transient suppression of motor evoked potentials (MEPs) during the preparatory delay period of delayed response tasks. While there exists a small but growing body of work that has found facilitation or dis-inhibition, the conditions under which preparatory inhibition is observed (or not) are of critical importance to understanding its functional significance.

#### **Preparatory Inhibition and its Putative Sources**

Action preparation during a delay period is characterized by transient inhibition of the motor-output pathway of task-relevant muscles<sup>6-13</sup>, as well as task-irrelevant muscles<sup>7,9</sup>, referred

to as preparatory inhibition. While these findings suggest a reliable suppression in the motor system during action preparation, others have shown somewhat conflicting evidence<sup>14,15</sup>. Although few in number, these contrasting studies call into question the nature of preparatory inhibition and its role in healthy movement generation.

Many questions remain unanswered concerning the necessary conditions for producing and detecting preparatory inhibition. However, multiple studies indicate preparatory inhibition is sensitive to specific features of tasks and responses. These include task feedback<sup>14</sup>, the complexity of a prepared response<sup>16</sup>, the involvement of a choice<sup>15</sup>, the muscle position on the body relative to the responding effector<sup>10</sup>, and the time provided to prepare a response<sup>11</sup>.

Additional important questions concern the functional significance of preparatory inhibition. Evidence suggests that the magnitude of inhibition correlates with response times<sup>12,17</sup>, with greater inhibition corresponding to faster responses. These findings are important because they lend support to the idea that physiological inhibition facilitates the preparation of responses rather than suppresses motor output.

The potential sources for preparatory inhibition are uncertain. TMS-derived measures of intracortical inhibition suggest that while overall MEP amplitudes are suppressed this occurs in the context of a synchronous release of intracortical inhibition, evident in both a release of short-interval intracortical inhibition<sup>8</sup> and shorter cortical silent periods<sup>18</sup> – as described in Chapter 2. These combined pieces of evidence may implicate subcortical sources of preparatory inhibition.

One candidate subcortical source of corticospinal inhibition is input from cerebellarthalamocortical pathways. Evidence from dual-coil TMS, with a conditioning pulse over the cerebellum followed by a test pulse over primary motor cortex at a latency of approximately 5-7ms, produces a reliable decrease in MEP amplitudes<sup>19</sup>. This phenomenon, referred to as cerebellar inhibition, suggests cerebellar inputs to M1 have a modulatory influence over corticospinal output.

Until now, investigations into action preparation using single-pulse TMS have been constrained to simple finger, wrist and ankle movements. By combining single-pulse TMS with a 2-dimensional reaching task, we have developed a novel paradigm that may further our understanding of preparatory mechanisms and the relationship between CS excitability and behavior, more broadly.

### **Reaching and Visuomotor Adaptation**

Goal-directed reaching is a fundamental skill that enables humans to interact with each other and our environment. As a highly investigated behavior in the fields of Motor Physiology, Psychology, and Neuroscience, reaching has generated an extensive body of literature, encompassing various research methodologies. However, reaching has not yet been employed in investigations of preparatory inhibition using single-pulse TMS. We argue that reaching provides an optimal direction to extend the preparatory inhibition literature to more complex movements.

Visual perturbations have been used to elicit a temporary adaptation, which reflects a process of implicit motor learning<sup>20</sup>. Several studies have employed adaptation to investigate the effects of motor learning on the CS pathway. This literature has shown that CS excitability is enhanced following visuomotor adaptation involving finger<sup>21</sup> and wrist movements<sup>22</sup>. Similar investigations that involve motor learning without adaptation have also found an association between the degree of learning and increased CS excitability<sup>22-26</sup>.

Since the cerebellum is strongly implicated in mediating visuomotor adaptation<sup>27</sup> especially for reaching<sup>28,29</sup>, our investigations indirectly probe cerebellar influence on CS pathway during preparation. Previous work suggests cerebellar-thalamocortical projections reduce M1 activity<sup>30,31</sup>, and conditioning pulses of TMS over the cerebellum reduce MEP amplitudes elicited from M1<sup>19</sup>. However, after adaptation in a reaching task, this cerebellar-mediated inhibition is reduced<sup>32,33</sup>. This effect has been shown in the primary agonist of a trained behavior as well as a task-irrelevant muscle<sup>34</sup>. This body of work, however, did not examine the CS pathway excitability during the preparatory state, i.e. the current topic of interest. The inclusion of adaptation in the current study was an attempt to probe cerebellar-mediated effects of motor learning on the preparation of actions.

## **Specific Contributions of Our Experiments**

## CSP Results

In the first experiment described (Ch. II), we found evidence of both inhibition - seen as reduced MEPs - and a release of inhibition - seen as shorter CSPs. These opposing processes point to a more nuanced model of action preparation, one in which both cortical and subcortical influences modulate the motor output pathway independent and in opposition to one another.

These findings are consistent with previous studies showing a release of short interval intracortical inhibition during the preparation of actions<sup>8</sup> and suggest potential involvement of subcortical sources of preparatory inhibition. One candidate source is cerebellar input via the thalamus to M1, and this motivated our follow-up investigations of preparatory inhibition in the context of reaching.

## **MEP** Results

In our first two studies using the novel paradigm (described in Ch. IV and V), we did not observe evidence of preparatory inhibition. In Experiment one (Ch. IV), there was no effect of TMS epoch or visual feedback block on MEP amplitude. Nor was there an effect of adaptation on CS excitability, as MEPs measured in the Exposure block were similar to those in the rest. While these findings suggest a lack of preparatory inhibition during reaching behaviors, it is unlikely that the preparatory mechanisms that govern reaching are fundamentally different than those that govern finger and wrist movements. It is likely that the added complexity of multijoint target acquisition introduced a level of noise in the motor system that overshadowed any existing CS modulation.

Similarly, in the follow-up study (Ch. V), there was no effect of TMS epoch, Response type or Task-Relevance on MEP amplitude. While the lack of preparatory inhibition during reaching trials aligns with the results of the preceding study (Ch. IV), the lack of preparatory inhibition during button trials is more surprising. Given that CS modulation seems to be sensitive to task-related elements such as feedback and response mode, it is possible that our task paradigm is not suited to detect trial-to-trial changes in CS excitability.

## Task Complexity & Corticospinal Excitability

While Reaching is a popular behavioral task in neurophysiology, the present study represents the first investigations with single-pulse TMS during preparation of reaching. While we expected to observe preparatory inhibition, as others have found using more simple tasks, it is plausible that the added complexity of multi-joint target acquisition somehow washed out any observable phenomenon of inhibition. Corticospinal (CS) excitability has been shown to increase with greater task complexity during unimanual actions<sup>35-37</sup> - as evidenced by larger MEPs. Importantly, this effect of task complexity has also been seen during the preparatory period<sup>38,39</sup>,

which has direct implications for our results. While previous work examining the influence of complexity on preparatory inhibition showed greater preparatory inhibition was associated with more complex manual responses<sup>16</sup>, this work was still confined to manual button-pressing. Perhaps in the realm of reaching, there is simply too much variation associated with the multijoint synergies necessary to perform the behavior to observe trial-to-trial modulation in CS excitability.

Now, if it is the case that the additional complexity of reaching obscured preparatory inhibition, that still does not account for the null result in the button-press condition in our follow-up study (Ch. V). It could be that the potential option of a reaching response, on any given trial, may have altered the preparatory state of button trials, as well. If response types were not interspersed, and instead blocked, perhaps this would not be the case.

### EMG Reaction Time Results

One surprising result observed in both experiments was the effect of TMS on Reaction time. While delay-period TMS has been shown to hasten reaction time in a delayed-response task<sup>9</sup>, we observed an additional effect of TMS administered at the baseline epoch. That is, TMS delivered at the end of the inter-trial interval, but before the preparatory cue, was associated with faster deltoid onset during reaching in both of our reaching studies, as well as faster FDI onset during button-pressing in our follow-up study, when compared to trials without TMS. What's more, the effect was also present in the Task-Irrelevant block of the follow-up study, but only in the deltoid. While it is not surprising for delay-period TMS to affect response times, since it is delivered during preparation of movement and thus primes the CS tract, it is not clear why baseline-TMS would have this effect. One might argue that participants took advantage of an anticipatory strategy, using the relatively fixed intervals between the preparatory cue and the imperative cue to time their responses. However, the intervals between the visual cues were similar for all trials, and thus this strategy would have been equally viable for trials without TMS. It is possible that magnetic stimulation of M1 provides the motor system with a more visceral marker of movement-related timing than does visual stimulation. We know that proprioception is perceived faster than visual information, and so perhaps TMS stimulation acts as a proxy proprioceptive marker for the timing of forthcoming responses.

#### **Broader Impacts, Limitations, and Future Directions**

While several TMS studies have found evidence of preparatory inhibition, and a number of models have been put forth to explain its functional relevance to behavior, its functional significance remains somewhat of a mystery. The described experiments represent a novel direction for TMS investigations of preparatory inhibition, while also providing a framework for future investigations. By combining reaching behavior, as well as adaptation, with single-pulse TMS methodology, we were able to probe CS excitability during the preparation of a complex behavior while exploring any potential cerebellar-mediated effects on the CS pathway. This was an ambitious attempt to form a bridge between several desperate bodies of work, and potentially reveal a common mechanism.

A number of limitations are of concern. These include the relatively small sample sizes in both experiments, which may have limited power for statistical analyses. While we estimated our sample size based on similar studies of preparatory inhibition, we did not account for the potential influence of certain task differences that may have increased noise in our MEP measures. Additionally, while we observed robust statistical effects for our EMG onset measures, we may not have had sufficient sensitivity to detect more subtle MEP effects, and this may have been particularly true across behavioral task blocks.

Future studies may include larger sample sizes. In addition, when comparing two response types, it may be beneficial to use a blocked design, as separating the two response types may reveal a pattern of preparatory inhibition that requires successive trials. Moreover, to avoid potential effects of tactile feedback, future studies may include a 'reach in the air' task variant to match previous work<sup>14</sup>. Lastly, we only measured MEPs in the FDI muscle. While the FDI served as a primary agonist for button-press trials, it was only partially involved in reaches. For a more direct investigation of reaching preparation, future studies may target the deltoid for MEP measurements during reaching.

One limitation of TMS and the motor-evoked potential is a lack of specificity. As a summary analog for momentary CS activity, the MEP contains limited resolution regarding the up-stream neural mechanisms it attempts to capture. Because of this, it is difficult to ascertain whether a null result is evidence of the absence of inhibition, or evidence of a secondary process overshadowing existing inhibitory mechanisms.

#### **Final Remarks**

More work is required to interrogate the reliability, scale, and relevance of preparatory inhibition. Questions still remain whether MEP suppression is confined to the preparation of simple, ballistic finger and wrist movements, or whether it scales to multi-joint limb movements. The present set of studies - the first of their kind to our knowledge - would suggest that preparatory inhibition does not scale to reaching movements. This also calls into question the purported functional relevance of preparatory inhibition as a global mechanism of the motor system. Given the novelty of this paradigm, more work is necessary to draw definitive conclusions about the factors that influence preparatory inhibition and whether it is even detectable in the context of reaching.

The observed TMS effects on reaction time present a novel direction for understanding the relationship between stimulation of motor cortex in advance of behavior and responserelevant muscles. These data are interesting in that they suggest TMS administration may alter the speed of contralateral limb movements as well as ipsilateral reaching movements. Future studies may help to understand whether this is a product of a specific physiological process within the motor system, a less specific attentional orienting response, or a mixture of the two.

In summary, the present findings add to a small but growing body of work that challenges the current understanding of preparatory inhibition. Future work will be able to unravel which task-related parameters are relevant to observing preparatory inhibition and why. Lastly, future work will establish whether reaching shares a common or distinct preparatory mechanism to finger and wrist movements.

## **References Cited**

1. Georgopoulos AP, Kalaska JF, Caminiti R, Massey JT. On the relations between the direction of two-dimensional arm movements and cell discharge in primate motor cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience* 2(11): 1527-1537, 1982.

2. Georgopoulos AP, Schwartz AB, Kettner, RE. Neuronal population coding of movement direction. *Science* 4771: 1416-1419, 1986.

3. Churchland MM, Santhanam G, Shenoy K. Preparatory activity in premotor and motor cortex reflects the speed of the upcoming reach. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 96(6): 3130-3146, 2006.

4. Churchland MM & Shenoy KV. Temporal complexity and heterogeneity of single-neuron activity in premotor and motor cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 97(6): 4235-4257, 2007.

5. Churchland MM et al. Cortical preparatory activity: representation of movement or first cog in a dynamical machine? *Neuron* 68(3): 387-400, 2010.

6. Davranche K, Tandonnet C, Burle B, Meynier C, Vidal F, Hasbroucq T. The dual nature of time preparation: neural activation and suppression revealed by transcranial magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex. European Journal of Neuroscience 25: 3766–3774, 2007.

7. Duque J, Ivry RB. Role of corticospinal suppression during motor preparation. *Cereb Cortex* 19: 2013–2024, 2009.

8. Duque J, Lew D, Mazzocchio R, Olivier E, Ivry RB. Evidence for two concurrent inhibitory mechanisms during response preparation. *J Neurosci* 30: 3793–3802, 2010.

9. Greenhouse I, Sias A, Labruna L, Ivry RB. Nonspecific inhibition of the motor system during response preparation. *J Neurosci* 35: 10675–10684, 2015.

10. Labruna L, Tischler C, Cazares C, Greenhouse I, Duque J, Lebon F, Ivry RB. Planning face, hand, and leg movements: anatomical constraints on preparatory inhibition. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 121(5): 1609-1620, 2019.

11. Lebon F, Ruffino C, Greenhouse I, Labruna L, Ivry RB, Papaxanthis C. The neural specificity of movement preparation during actual and imagined movements. *Cerebral Cortex* 29(2): 689-700, 2019.

12. Hannah R, Cavanagh SE, Tremblay S, Simeoni S, Rothwell JC. Selective suppression of local interneuron circuits in human motor cortex contributes to movement preparation. *J Neurosci* 38(5): 1264-1276, 2018.

13. Vassiliadis P. Grandjean J. Derosiere G. de Wilde Y. Quemener L. Duque J. Using a doublecoil TMS protocol to assess preparatory inhibition bilaterally. *Frontiers Neuroscience* 12 doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00139, 2018. 14. Quoilin C, Lambert J, Benvenuto J, Klein PA, Duque J. Comparison of motor inhibition in variants of the instructed-delay choice reaction time task. *PLoS One* doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161964, 2016.

15. Quoilin C, Fievez F, Duque J. Preparatory inhibition: impact of choice in reaction time tasks. *Neuropsychologia* 129: 221-222, 2019.

16. Greenhouse I, Saks D, Hoang T, Ivry RB. Inhibition during response preparation is sensitive to response complexity. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 113(7): 2792-2800, 2015

17. Ibanez J, Hannah R, Rocchi L, Rothwell JC. Premovement suppression of corticospinal excitability may be a necessary part of movement preparation. *Cerebral Cortex* 30(5): 2910-2923, 2020

18. Gomez IN, Ormiston K, Greenhouse I. Response preparation involves a release of intracortical inhibition in task-irrelevant muscles. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 125(2): 523-532, 2020.

19. Werhahn KJ. Taylor J. Ridding M. Meyer BU. Rothwell JC. Effect of transcranial magnetic stimulation over the cerebellum on the excitability of human motor cortex, *Electroencophalography and Clinical Neurophysiology* 101(1): 58-66, 1996.

20. Kim HE et al. Invariant errors reveal limitations in motor correction rather than constraints on error sensitivity. *Communications Biology* 1: 19, 2018.

21. Bagce HF, Saleh S, Adamovich SV, Tunik E. Visuomotor gain distortion alters online motor performance and enhances primary motor cortex excitability in patients with stroke. *Neuromodulation* 15(4): 361-366. 2012.

22. Quinn L, Milijevic A, Rurak BK, Marinovic W, Vallence A. Differential plasticity of extensor and flexor motor cortex representations following visuomotor adaptation. *Experimental Brain Research* 236(2945-2957, 2018.

23. Koaneke S, Lutz K, Heriwig U. Ziemann U. Jancke L. Extensive training of elementary finger tapping movements changes the pattern of motor cortex excitability. *Experimental Brain Research* 174: 199-209, 2006.

24. Gallasch E. et al. Changes in motor cortex excitability following training of a novel goaldirected motor task. *European Journal of Applied* Physiology 105: 47-54, 2009.

25. Cirillo J, Todd G, Semmler JG. Corticomotor excitability and plasticity following complex visuomotor training in young and old adults. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 34(11): 1847-1856, 2011.

26. Sarwary AME et al. Corticospinal correlates of fast and slow adaptive processes in motor learning. *Journal of Neurophysiology* doi.org/10.1152/jn.00488.2018, 2018.

27. Tzvi E, Loens S, Donchin O. Mini-review: the role of the cerebellum in visuomotor adaptation, *The Cerebellum* 21: 306-313, 2022.

28. Tseng YW et al. Sensory prediction errors drive cerebellum-dependent adaptation of reaching, *Journal of Neurophysiology* doi.org/10.1152/jn.00266.2007, 2007.

29. Rabe K et al. Adaptation to visuomotor rotation and force field perturbation is correlated to different brain areas in patients with cerebellar degeneration. *Journal of Neurophysiology* doi.org/10.1152/jn.91069, 2009.

30. Hoover JE, Strick PL. The organization of cerebellar and basal ganglia outputs to primary motor cortex as revealed by retrograde transneuronal transport of herpes simplex virus type1. *Journal of Neuroscience* 19(21), 1999.

31. Dum RP & Strick PL, An unfolded map of the cerebellar dentate nucleus and its projections to the cerebral cortex, *Journal of Neurophysiology* 89(1): 634-639, 2003.

32. Jayaram G, Galea JM, Bastian AJ, Celnik P. Human locomotor adaptive learning is proportional to depression of cerebellar excitability, *Cerebral Cortex* 21(8): 1901-1909, 2011.

33. Schlerf JE et al. Dynamic Modulation of Cerebellar excitability for abrupt, but not gradual, visuomotor adaptation. *Journal of Neuroscience* 32(34): 11610-11617, 2012.

34. Spampinato DA, Hannah JB, & Celnik PA. Cerebellar-M1 connectivity changes associated with motor learning are somatotopic specific. *Journal of Neuroscience* 37(9):2377-2386, 2017.

35. Flament D, Goldsmith P, Buckley CJ, Lemon RN. Task dependence of responses in first dorsal interosseous muscle to magnetic brain stimulation in man, *Journal of Neurophysiology* 464(1): 361-378, 1993.

36. Abbruzzese G, Trompetto C, Schieppati M. The excitability of the human motor cortex increases during execution and mental imagination of sequential but not repetitive finger movemens, *Experimental Brain Research* 111: 465-472, 1996.

37. Watanabe H et al. Actual and imaginary motor tasks of varied difficulty. *Neuroscience* 391: 81-90, 2018.

38. Roosink M & Zijdewind I. Corticospinal excitability during observation and imagery of simple and complex hand tasks: implications for motor rehabilitation, *Behavioral Brain Research* 213(1): 35-41, 2010.

39. Keenefick M et al. Corticospinal excitability is enhanced while preparing for complex movements. *Experimental Brain Research* 237: 829-837, 2019.